

USERS' GUIDE

© 2008, Association Computer Services, Inc., All Rights Reserved.

Table of Contents

Part I	Introduction	1
Part II	Getting Started	2
1	Installing the Program	
-	Data Directory	
2	Printing Your First Prayer Card	4
3	Printing Your First Government Form	
4	Entering Your Prices	15
Part III	Data Entry Basics	16
1	Navigation	
	Find a Funeral	
	Open a Funeral	
	Creating a New Funeral	
	Deleting a Funeral	
	The Tabbed Notebook	
	The Contract List	
	The Module Menu	
2	Fields	
	Names and Places	
	Masked Fields	
	Lists	
	Check Boxes	
3	lists of Poonlo	
5		
	Family and Friends	27 28
Dort IV		20
Faitiv		23
1	Overview	
2	First Call Tab	
Э		
4	Medical Tab	
5	Service Tab	
6	Disposition Tab	
7	Veteran Tab	
8	Relative Tab	
9	Picture Tab	

© 2008, Association Computer Services, Inc., All Rights Reserved.

1

	Contents	II
12	Letters	38
Part V		۵۵ 41
1	Creating Editing or Deloting a Contract	
2	Standard Services	
4	Creating Editing or Deleting Transactions	
5	Pavors	
6	Funeral Detail	
7	Sales Tax	
8	Interest	
9	Billing	50
10	A/R Forms	52
11	Write Off	53
12	Post	53
13	Sales Codes	53
14	Stock	54
15	Transfer Preneed to At-Need	55
16	Letters	56
17	At-need Reports	59
Part VI	P/N PRO	59
1	Overview	59
2	Creating, Editing, or Deleting a Contract	60
3	Standard Services	61
4	Creating, Editing, or Deleting Transactions	63
5	Purchasers	65
6	Funeral Detail	65
7	Sales Tax	66
8	Billing	67
9	P/N Forms	69
10	Sales Codes	70
11	Stock	70
12	Transfer Preneed to At-Need	71
13	Letters	72
14	Preneed Reports	75
Part VII	PrintPRO	76
1	Overview	76
2	Personal Tab	

The Professional Programs from ACS

3	Service Tab7
4	Disposition Tab
5	Relatives Tab
6	Picture Tab
	Filters and Effects
	Auto Contrast
	Bleed 8
	Borders 8
	Border Fade
	8lur
	Bright
	Color
	Palettes
	Color Palette
	Dark
	Despeckle
	Edge Detection
	Engrave
	Enhance
	Extrude 8
	Gamma
	Gray Area
	Half Tone
	Hue and Saturation
	Invert 8
	Jiggle
	Mirror
	Mosaic
	Motion Blur
	Noise Effect
	Oil Paint
	Page Curl
	Paste Image
	Pinch Hole
	Pular
	Rotate
	Sitarp
	Suit
	Spray
	Threshold 8
	Transitions
	Warn
	Wave 9
	WhirlPool
	Filters and Effects Manager
	Hide Selection
	Selected area, the Rubberband
	Reset Selection
	Reload
	9 Preview
	Apply
	Stop

III

© 2008, Association Computer Services, Inc., All Rights Reserved.

Contents	IV
0011101110	

	Close and Save	
	Close and do not Save	
7	Praver Cards	
8	Memorial Folders	
9	Tri-Folds	95
10	Acknowledgement Cards	
11	Register Books	
12	Miscellaneous	
13	Advanced	101
14	Resizing Controls	105
15	Printer Adjustments	105
16	Verse Book	107
	Master List	107
17	Letters	109
Part VIII	Utilities	112
		• •
1	Overview	
1	Overview Backup/Restore	
1 2 3	Overview Backup/Restore Address Book	
1 2 3 4	Overview Backup/Restore Address Book Debugging	
1 2 3 4 5	Overview	
1 2 3 4 5 6	Overview	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Overview	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Overview	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	Overview	112 112 113 113 113 114 114 115 115
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Part IX	Overview	112 112 113 113 113 113 113 113 114 114 114 115 115 116
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Part IX Part X	Overview	112 112 113 113 113 113 113 114 114 114 114 115 115 116 117

1 Introduction



From Association Computer Services, Inc., comes The Professional Programs, the complete solution for funeral homes of all sizes. Whether you handle 25 calls a year or 25 hundred, The Professional Programs reduce your paperwork, simplify your bookkeeping, and let you concentrate on delivering professional quality service.

As an introduction to our programs, we have provided tutorials which walk you through Printing Your First Prayer Card, Printing Your First Government Form, and Entering Your Prices.

The Professional Programs consist of modules that may be purchased separately. A single main menu leads to all of the modules.

Arranger Professional consists of three modules which may be purchased separately or together.

LedgerPRO is the electronic funeral ledger. It prepares all of the government forms including death certificates, burial permits, Veterans Administration claims and Social Security statements. Standard obituaries, clergy cards, and funeral ledgers as well as basic non-financial reports are also included.

A/R PRO is the accounts receivable module. It prepares at-need contracts, memoranda, and statements as well as financial reports.

P/N PRO is the preneed module. It prepares preneed contracts, and records and reports trust and insurance funding.

PrintPRO prepares memorial folders, prayer cards, acknowledgement cards, and register books. PrintPRO looks and works like LedgerPRO up until the point of printing when a different set of selections is presented.

The Main Menu also includes buttons across the bottom for Utilities, Registration, Introduction, and Close. Utilities are maintenance routines. When you purchase a module you will register it. Unregistered modules are available to you in demonstration mode so you may determine if you wish to purchase them. Clicking on Introduction brings up this page. Close exits the program.

ArrangerPro and PrintPro maintain one common set of data. If you own more than one module, you can enter the data in any module and, where appropriate, it will be there when you look up the same funeral in the other module. Of course, there are some differences between the data entry windows. For example, LedgerPro has medical information for the death certificates that is unnecessary in PrintPro. Speaking of unnecessary information, we can not repeat too often that software is a tool to prepare your paperwork and maintain your history; if the windows collect information that is unnecessary for your purposes, don't enter it.

ACS has long been a leader in funeral home software solutions. We began working with funeral directors in 1984 and incorporated ACS in 1986. For years we have been dealing with real people who use our products every day. We are proud to introduce the latest generation of our products.

1

2

2 Getting Started

2.1 Installing the Program

The Professional Programs are distributed on a CD-ROM. On many computers placing a CD in your drive is all you need to do to cause your computer to read the CD. So place the CD in your drive and wait a few moments to see if a menu appears on your screen. If nothing happens, you can make the menu appear by first double clicking on My Computer to display icons for your drives and then double clicking on the icon for your CD-ROM drive which will be identified by a picture of a CD.



The first option on the menu is Install. Click on this choice to begin the installation process. The menu contains options to display this documentation in on-screen and printable versions. The menu also contains a Release Notes choice which allows users installing an upgrade to see what has changed, and a Prior Versions choice for our existing customers wishing to reinstall their present version.

Once the installation begins, you will be able to change the directory into which the program will be installed. Unless you are an advanced user or on a network, we recommend you simply accept the normal location which is C:\Program Files\ACS. If you choose to install to a non-standard directory, you will have to remember to install every update to the same location. The installation will place an icon on your desktop which you will use to enter the program.

Because Windows Vista does not allow data files to the in the Program Files tree, the first time you start the program it will create a folder for the data. The default location of that folder is C:\ACS\Data folder although you can change this if you are on a network or if your computer has a drive other than C: for data.

Network users may wish to install the program onto their server instead of accepting the normal location which would be onto the computer in which they inserted the CD. If the installation was on a shared drive, the program will work from the workstation which was used to make the installation without doing more. However, if you also wish to use other workstations, you will need to install the program to the shared drive from each workstation in order to install the Borland Database Engine (BDE) on the local drive. If you do not share the entire drive, do not allow the program to install to

\Program Files\ACS on the server. Instead install to \ACS (or to an ACS folder within a shared folder) and then mark the ACS folder as shareable with full access. You may then map a drive on each workstation to that folder, and then install the program from the workstation to the root folder of the mapped drive. When the program creates its data folder, be sure it creates it underneath the ACS folder you will be sharing.

You may also choose to install the software to the local drive of each workstation as well as to the shared drive, but then you must configure each workstation to find the data on the server. We recommend the first approach, installing the software from each workstation but always changing the place of installation from C: to the shared drive, except on Wide Area Networks where performance considerations may require multiple local copies of the software. Note, that simultaneous access to a single data set from multiple computers requires multi-user registration at extra cost.

2.1.1 Data Directory

When you start the program for the very first time, it will realize that it does not know where to find its data. It will ask you to confirm that this is a first time installation.

Arranger	\mathbf{X}		
Is this a first time installation?			
Yes No			

Since it is, you will click on Yes. If a problem causes this message to display when this is not your first time installation, click on No and this message will appear.

Association Computer Services
No Data Directory specified. If this is not a first time installation, reboot your computer and try again. If that does not fix the problem, call tech support at 888-227-9911
OK

Usually rebooting with correct this problem. If not, click OK, close the program, restart it, answer Yes to the is this a first time installation question and proceed as if that were the case. Answering Yes will cause this message to appear.

Arranger		<u>è</u>	\mathbf{x}
Do you wa	nt to use the sta	indard locatio	on (D:\acs\data)
	Yes	No	
-			_

By default, the data location will be in a folder called \ACS\Data on the drive on which the program is installed. We recommend you accept this location unless you have a strong reason not to do so. The most common reason to make another selection would be that you are installing on a network and the data will be located on another computer. Another good reason would be if your computer is setup with a C: drive for programs and a D: drive for data or if you are putting the data on a shared external drive.



If you do decide to specify a custom location, the following window will appear.

Use the controls at the left to locate the drive and directory in which the data will be stored. Once the proper directory is highlighted, click on Select to specify that directory (if the directory does not yet exist, you may type it in the Data Location field at the top of the window), Save to store your selection, and then Close to close the Data Locator.

If the selected directory does not yet exist, which would be normal in a first time installation particularly if you chose to use the standard location, this message will appear.

N	
\data] not found. Do you v	ish to create them?
Yes No	
	\data] not found. Do you w Yes No

Click on Yes and the program will create the appropriate files in the selected location. If you realize that you have not specified the proper location, click on No.

2.2 Printing Your First Prayer Card

Double click on the Arranger icon on your desktop to bring up the program's Main Menu.

According Computer Services	
Prayer Cards are done in PrintPro.	LIGUX Arange Potensional Arange Potensional Arange Potensional Arange Potensional Arange Potensional Phi Po Phi Po Discrete Potensional Computer Services, Inc. 115.E. Michigen St. Inderson, IN 46204 Support, 1868) 227-9911 Sale: 1989 227-991 Sale: 1989 27-991 Sale: 1989 27-991 Sale: 1989 27-991 Sale: 1989 27-991 Sale:

Click on the <u>Print</u> Pro button or press the P key to bring up the Find a Case Screen. Hitting the P key works because the P on the <u>Print</u> Pro button was underlined. Underlined characters on buttons mean that hitting that letter (or alt and that letter if you are in a place where hitting a letter would be interpreted as data) operate the button.

5



This is the Find a Case Screen. If you are just starting out you will not have any cases listed to Open yet, and so you should click on <u>N</u>ew to enter your first case.

📉 New Funeral	
Deceased Name	Click on dots to
	open address
Funeral Home	book.
Funeral Number	
2002-0001	
C Atneed C Preneed	
Autonumber At NeedsAutonumber Preneeds	
✓ O <u>K</u>	

The first two fields have an ellipsis (three dots) at the right which tells you that they call for a Name or Place. Click on the ellipsis to bring up the Address Book.



This is the Address Book where you look up people you have dealt with in prior cases. If you are just starting out, this will also be empty and you'll want to click on <u>New</u> again. However, if you had been using the program for a while, the person who is now deceased might have already been in your system as a relative in an earlier call, so you'd want to check your Address Book for the name before hitting <u>New</u> and creating a possible duplicate.



This is the screen for entering information about a person. Since our object is to do a Prayer Card, all we need to fill in is the name and the dates of birth and death. This screen is discussed in greater detail elsewhere.

Address	Book: People		<u> </u>	_ [D] ×
Title	Last Name	First Name	Midde Name	Ending
AKA	-	(Ful)	Maiden Name (if needed	9
Address				
H				
City		State	Zp	Sex
Phone	SSN	Bith Date De	ath Date	
		Hebre	w Date of Death	- Andrew
			/ E	nter only
			inf	formation
			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	nd then
			, °	lick OK.

When you have the information entered to your satisfaction, click on OK.



This took you back to the Address Book but now the person you entered is on the list. Click OK again to indicate that you wish to create a new case with that person as the deceased. The New Funeral Screen may appear briefly depending upon the speed of your computer, and then the program will automatically open the Address Book for you to specify the Funeral Home.



7

We have returned to the Address Book, but unlike before when we were shown People, this time we are shown Places. If this is our first time using this list, it will be empty and we need to click on <u>New to enter our first Place</u>.

Address Book: Fu	neral Home (Ed	<b>A) <u>(</u>)</b>		JOX
Name *			- Lor registration	
Contact	~	Enter the na	me,	
Address		phone numbe	r for	Register
	_\	your Funer Home.	al /	Dirit
• [				
Phone	Fax	Extra Information		_
License	Location No	-		
	✓ 0 <u>K</u>	X Cancel ? He	ip 🔷 Notes	J

Enter the information for your funeral home. Ignore the boxes about Registration. We will help you fill in those boxes after you decide to purchase the program. When you enter the phone numbers if you start with a (to enclose an area code), the program will enter the rest of the punctuation for you.

Name		-	
<ul> <li>My Funeral Home</li> </ul>		* Needed for registration	
Contact			
		D	
Address		- Hegistation Lode	Begister
<ul> <li>1234 Main Street</li> </ul>		_	Unregister
			Dist
City	State	Zo	East
<ul> <li>MyTown</li> </ul>	E IN.	46204	
Phone Fax	Extra la	ntomation	
(888) 227-9911			
License Loc	tion No		
		Press OK when 🗋	
	(	uou are done	)

Click on OK to save this information and return to the Address Book.

Address Book: Fune	ral Home (Browse)		EOX
	Name	Contact	1
✓ OK ○ New ② Ede ③ Lotters ④ Qolete ③ Dolete ③ Holp X Carcel	My Funeral Home Click OK to se highlighted na Funeral Hom new ca	elected the ame as the le for your ase.	-
	<u>x -</u>		2

🛯 New Funeral
Deceased Name
Cook, Frank M. We are back
Funeral Home Case Form and
My Funeral Home your names
Funeral Number
2002-0001
Atneed     C Preneed
Autonumber At Needs

Then click on OK again to use this location for your case.

The program has automatically entered a Funeral Number which you might want to change, but since we're just printing Prayer Cards we'll leave the number alone and click on  $O\underline{K}$ . If you want to tell the program not to automatically number your cases, remove the check marks first.

Dei Polessend (dd	334488		E6 2
Mohle Espe			-71
01/01/2002	Cook, Fra	agle and a local second s	2.00
Personal Service Disposition. Re-	tana Picture Perroy	<ul> <li>You may need to</li> </ul>	
Feridence Dati:   Spose	(	Maximize the Window.	$\mathcal{A}$
	Peoderice Deceased Cinik, Frank M.		
	Addres	Clar Notes	
	26		
	Decedent's Place of Worship	в	
F Let Edge Adi	v [eve ∭ Canol	P Help Doon	

This opens our case and places us on the Personal Tab. At this point you may wish to click on the square box symbol in the upper right hand corner of the window to maximize the window. On many monitors, this window looks better maximized.

If we were printing Memorial Folders, Acknowledgements, Register Books, or Miscellaneous forms, we'd need to click on the intervening tabs to enter more data. However, since our object is to print a Prayer Card and we've already entered a name with dates of birth and death and a funeral home location, we can simply click on the Printing tab at the right end of the list of tabs.

9



Several items on this screen have been set to standard values by default. Once you start using the program these values will be reset to reflect your most recent choices. You should see a list of verses on the left with the arrow indicating that the initial choice is "<Empty Verse>". Immediately above that is the paper size selection box which is initially set to "Both Sides Tear Off". This choice is for 8-up prayer cards on an 11" sheet of paper with a tear off strip on each side. Clicking the arrow to the right of this choice brings up a list with other choices. Further to the right you will see a selection for fonts which should be initially set to "Roman Small(Garamond)" and a selection for data which should be set to "Basic.pc". Later you'll want to experiment with other fonts and data choices; however, for now please accept the initial settings unless for some reason any of these boxes start out blank in your version. In that case, you will want to click on the arrow to the right of the blank selection and choose something, preferably our standard choice.

Double click on Afterglow in the verse list.

Pred Professional 1.64		
Moke Exp		
01/01/2002	Cook, Frank M.	2002-000
Personal Service Disputition Relation Par Plane Cerlin Manusar Fallers Acknow D Share Alignment Bodes X Other Rich Scher Fase (IR ) 203	Preview appears here.	Click Print
Nee Chap Year Cad Year	A theorem of the second	Part Adapter Pental Vene Roja Vene Roja di Stata Ali queri
E' Let Edge A&	✔ See X Canod 7 Hite	Done

The card on the right will remake itself with the Afterglow verse. Now click on Print.



The Report Setup screen appears with your default printer selected and <u>C</u>opies set to 1. If you have more than one printer and need to change from the selected printer, you could click on <u>S</u>etup; otherwise simply click on OK to print your first sheet of cards. You would also use <u>S</u>etup to specify manual feed if your prayer cards are not in the paper tray. If you have not yet purchased the program, a message may appear warning you that the chosen funeral home location is unregistered. Do not be concerned about this message. It simply means that Sample will be printed on your output until we issue you a registration number on purchase. Click on OK in this warning.

Finally, click on <u>Close and Close again to return to the programs Main Menu</u>, or click on <u>Close a third</u> time to return all the way to your desktop.

## 2.3 Printing Your First Government Form

If you have just finished Printing Your First Prayer Card, you should be at the Main Menu. If not, Double click on the Arranger icon on your desktop to bring it up.

Manuciation Computer Services	
Government forms are done in LedgerPro.	Arange Podesional
St Likes Anguter Physics Dose	Copyright 2005 Association Computer Services, Inc. 115E: Michigan St. Indianopolis, IN: 44504 Support, 1989) 227:9911 Saler, (1989) 227:9911 Saler, (1989) 227:9411 Http://www.FunesalHomeSoftware.info

Click on the Ledger Pro button or press the L key to bring up the Find a Case Screen.



This time your list of cases should not be empty. The case you entered into PrintPro when you Printed Your First Prayer Card will already be on the list. Click on <u>Open to use that case</u>. If you skipped the section on Printing Prayer Cards, you will want to review the instructions in that section on entering your first case.

1 miges Protessional		<b>EQ 2</b>
01/01/2002	Cook, Frank M.	2002-0001
1992 Cal   Percent   Perc 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	And Service ( Departing ( Version) ( Restard (	
	X Causel ♀ BoleDees	

Again, you will want to be sure this window is maximized by clicking on the square box in the upper right hand corner. If the square box has been replaced by two boxes, your screen is already maximized.

We are going to print a Social Security Form (SS721), and so our first task will be to enter the necessary data that we skipped when we entered the case to print a prayer card. Click on the Personal tab to bring up that page.

Residence	
Demand First H	
Address	
	~~~~
Click on t	hree 🔪
dots to ed	lit the 👌
Torrela	i's J
finite Parties Inc. informati	ion /
Enseted Parallelete	ion.

Next click on the ellipsis (3 dots) to the right of the deceased's name. When the person screen

appears, go to the Sex field and specify Male or Female and to the SSN field to add in the Social Security Number.



Then, click on OK to return to the Personal tab. Now click on Relative.



A panel for the first relative is already there, and so you should click on the three dots in the name field to open the address book. Relatives whose names go on government forms must be in the address book. To create a panel for a second relative, click on New. You could also click on w/o Addr Book to add a relative without using the Address Book, but that is only recommended in situations where you are sure you will never need to use the name again or to add a reference that isn't a name such as "three grandchildren."

Newsland Declaration and Declaration			Terr .
01/01/2002	Cook, Fr	ank M.	2002-0001
Terrife Tenned Stored Tenned Realizer Max Wax Wax Wax Nam Wax Sam Sam Careed Ca		ck New to Id name to list.	
	Interes Diserv	7 HAD 1 DAM	

Our deceased is on the list, but now we need to click on New to add our Spouse. When the screen

appears, add the necessary information. Then, click $O\underline{K}$ to return to the Address Book, then click $O\underline{K}$ again to return to the Relatives tab and in the field below the name type in Husband or Wife as appropriate. This relationship field is a List that starts out empty but builds as you use the program.

Name	City State	E toburn	
Myra Borsholf Cook		Honoras Palbearer	
5.64	🖌 🖓 Family List	C Decessed C Linker	
		The relationship gase	
		The relationship goes	
		below the name.	

That's all the data we need for this form so click on the Printing tab.

Ledger Professional: El		LOX
09/04/2000	Cook, Frank M.	
First Call Personal Medical Form ObiLuary	Service Disposition Veteran Relative Picture Printing	
Name Install some only I	ing forms is thing you have to do once.	
	✓ Save X Cancel ? Beb Ĵ Dose	

Since this is our first form, the list of Installed forms is empty and we need to click on Install.

Open					? ×
Look in: 🔂	Acs		× 🗈		
Data EmptyData 2008.form 21530_95 401330.fo flag.form	a .form rm	Kentuci Ohio Di sr721.fr	ky DC 8-96.fo C 2-97.form orm rd Funeral Ler	rm dger.forr	n
File name:					<u>O</u> pen
Files of type:	Forms			•	Cancel

Find ss721.form in the list of available forms, click on it to highlight it and then click on <u>Open</u>. If you have not yet purchased the program, a message may appear warning you that the module or funeral home location is unregistered. Do not be concerned about this message. It simply means that Sample will be printed on your output until we issue you a registration number on purchase. Click on OK in this warning. The on-screen form will appear.



Scroll the form to satisfy yourself that it is filled in the way you want it to be. To print the form to paper, click on Print Page. When you are done, click on Close Document. You will return to the form list but now the SS721 will be on the list. The next time you wish to print a Social Security Form it will not be necessary to Install the form. After you have installed your forms, you will Select the particular form you wish to print from the list.

2.4 Entering Your Prices

We highly recommend entering Standard Services as soon as possible. Each Standard Service is a list of items that may be copied into a contract. Standard Services are entered by selecting <u>Std</u> Services from the Find a Funeral Screen in A/R PRO or P/N PRO. The same Standard Services are available for you use in both at-need and preneed contracts.

Selecting this option brings up the Standard Services Editor.

terminal team team team team team team team team	New Service.	Standard Contourty 1.00
Der Ste Cool Vergetor Der Ste Cool Vergetor Control Cool Vergetor Cool Verget	all Dente Des Destrice Courses See	Environ Name Total Onaugen(Last Updated Overval) Sequencia \$1.000.00.00.00.00.0002 Finadowaid \$1.000.00.02.00.002
1	New Item In elected Service.	Dee See Case December December 2000/2002 Stoft Tests Service of Creater 5 Sec 0.056/2002 Stoft Tests Sec 0.056/2002 Stoft Tests Sec 0.056/2002 Stoft December 2000 Sec 0.056/2002

The Editor looks very much like the Contract List although some buttons have been disabled. To enter a Standard Service click on New.

Let Updated	Service Name			-	
higinal Charge	Most Recent P	ayment	Current Balance	Final Payment Date	
Billing Type Interest Rate Days Grace 0	0] Tax TaxR TaxR	State <u>×</u> sle 1 sle 2	Emblaming	
Accrue Interes	# From Grace	TaxExen	iCap	Reation For Required Purch	

Enter a Service Name and Click on <u>Save</u>. Typical names for Standard Services are Traditional, Cremation, Graveside, Catholic, and Ship-Out. Any combination of items that you typically offer as a group is a candidate for a Standard Service. You should ignore the interest, sales tax, and disclosure fields as the program does not take this information from Standard Services.

Use the New Button at the right to add transactions to your service.

Notice that the Standard Services page has a Standard Services button at the top of it. You may use this feature to copy one Standard Service into another one.

3 Data Entry Basics

3.1 Navigation

3.1.1 Find a Funeral

The Find a Funeral Window is substantially identical in all modules. The column headings vary slightly and some buttons are not available in every module, but the main functions are the same.



From this window you may click on Open to Open an Existing Funeral, New to Create a New Funeral, or Delete to Delete an Existing Funeral. Clicking on Help opens this help window, and Close returns you to the Main Menu.

Reports are available in LedgerPRO, A/R PRO, and P/N PRO. Standard Services are only applicable to A/R PRO and P/N PRO.

3.1.2 Open a Funeral

Clicking on Open from the Find a Funeral Window will open the highlighted Funeral. So before you click on open you will want to highlight the correct Funeral. Initially your Funerals will be listed in alphabetical order beginning with the A's. However, you may change the list to be ordered by Funeral Numbers or Dates of Death, by names other than the Deceased's, or by at-need or preneed Contract Numbers. Simply use the radio buttons in the upper left hand corner of the window to select the order you prefer.

At first, your list will be short and you will find it easy to simply scroll to the Funeral of your choice. When your list gets longer though, you'll want to be able to jump into the middle. Simply begin typing where it says Enter a Name or Part of a Name and the list will scroll to display cases matching what you have typed. While the Field says Name, it is really a general purpose locator. So if you've chose to sort your list by Funeral Numbers, you'll want to type a number or the beginning of a number rather than a name. Similarly if your list is sorted by date, you'll type a date.

Once the Funeral you want appears in the list, click on it to highlight it and then click on Open. You may also simply double-click the highlighted entry.

3.1.3 Creating a New Funeral

Clicking on New from the Find a Funeral Window will create a New Funeral. You can create a New Funeral from any module. Once you have created it in one module if you need to use it in another module you should Open and not create it a second time.

New Funeral	
Deceased Name	Click on dots to
Funeral Home	open address book.
Funeral Number	
2002-0001	
Atneed C Preneed	
Autonumber At NeedsAutonumber Preneeds	
<u>✓ 0K</u>	

The first step is to specify the name of the Deceased and so so click on the ellipsis (3 dots) to the right of the Deceased Name Field and your Address Book opens. You see a list of all the People whose names are already in your computer.



At first the list will be empty and you will need to click on New to add your first person. If you only have a few names you will be able to see all of them immediately, but when your list becomes long you will need to enter the beginning of the last name to scroll the list to the proper part of the alphabet. If you see that the name is already on your list, click on it to highlight it and click OK. You may also double-click on the name. If the name is not on your list, click on New to open the People Entry Window.



This is a good place to remind you that you don't need to fill in every field just because it is there. Think about the things you plan to print and fill in the information you need and skip the rest unless you have to need to record the information for future use. Fill in the fields and then click on OK. You will be returned to the list of People and your new name will have been added. Now you may click on OK again to select that name as your Deceased.

After you have chosen the name, the New Funeral Window will appear briefly with your chosen name included and then the Address Book will open again automatically to allow you to specify your Funeral Home location.



We have returned to the Address Book, but unlike before when we were shown People, this time we are shown Places. If this is our first time using this list, it will be empty and we need to click on <u>New to enter our first Place</u>. Once you have entered your funeral homes, you need only select them from this list.



Enter the information for your funeral home. Ignore the boxes about Registration unless you are on the phone with a support techician. If you begin a phone number with a (to enclose the area code, the program will add the rest of the punctuation automatically. Click on $O\underline{K}$ to save this information and return to the Address Book.



Then click on OK again to use this location for your case.

🖪 New Funeral
Deceased Name
Cook, Frank M. We are back
Funeral Home (Case Form and
My Funeral Home your names now appear.
Funeral Number
2002-0001
Atneed C Preneed
Autonumber At Needs
V OK

Funeral Numbers are optional. You'll probably want to enter them if you are using LedgerPRO, A/R PRO, or P/N PRO, but ignore them if you are only using PrintPRO. The program automatically supplies a number in the format shown above. If you do not want the program to autonumber, remove one or both of the check marks on this screen. If you want automatic numbering but use a different format, leave the check marks but change the number for your first case. The program will assign a number one higher for your next case.

A radio button allows you to specify that the case is a preneed. The default value will be at-need cases unless your are in P/N PRO.

When all of the information is correct, click OK to create the new case.

3.1.4 Deleting a Funeral

Clicking on Delete from the Find a Funeral Window will delete the highlighted Funeral. The process of locating a Funeral and highlighting it is identical whether you then wish to Delete it or you wish to Open it.

3.1.5 The Tabbed Notebook

After you have opened or created a funeral in LedgerPRO or PrintPRO, The Tabbed Notebook will appear. The Notebook will have minor differences depending upon which module you are using.

(none) news) You may need to Maximize the Window	
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
Peodece Decessed Code Fund M.	
Decident's Rise at Visable	
	Pecaleris Place al Vitable

Clicking on the tabs at the top of the window, cause that tab to move to the front. In the illustration, the Birth tab of the Personal tab is in front. As you can see, the Personal tab is a notebook within a notebook.

The spaces on the middle of the tab sheet are for the display and entry of data. They are called Fields. The process of data entry depends upon the type of field. The field types are Names and Places, Masked Fields, Lists, Check Boxes, and Notes.

At the bottom of the tabbed notebook, you will find buttons saying <u>Save</u>, Cancel, <u>Help and Close</u>. You may press a button by clicking on it with your mouse. Also many buttons have a letter in their name underlined. For example, the S in Save is underlined. This means the button may also be pressed by holding down the Alt key and tapping that letter. Saves stores the changes you have made to the data. Cancel restores the data to the values that were there when you opened the notebook. Clicking on the Help Button will display this information page. Close returns you to the Find a Funeral window.

A Module Menu at the top left allows you to move between Modules without having to return to the Main Menu and reselecting your case. You stay in the same case when you use the Module Menu.

A Page Menu to the right of the Module Menu provides an alternate way to move between tabs.



Since the Page Menu has hot-keys (the underlined letters), it provides a way to move between tabs with the keyboard rather than the mouse.

3.1.6 The Contract List

After you have opened or created a funeral in A/R PRO or P/N PRO, The Contract List will appear. The List will have minor differences depending upon which module you are using.



The top portion of this window displays the list of contracts and has buttons which operate on an entire contract. The bottom portion of the window displays the transactions for the contract which is highlighted in the top portion.

A funeral may have more than one contract. A second contract might be used to separate items to be paid by different people, to separate selections from a guaranteed prearrangement from selections added at-need, or to reflect the sale of an item purchased after the service such as a monument.

3.1.7 The Module Menu

Once you have found a funeral in any module, you may use the Module Menu to switch to another module within the same funeral. Just click on the word Module in the upper left hand corner of the program and this menu will appear.

¥	Ledger Pro
	<u>A</u> /R Pro PN Pro
	Print Pro
	<u>C</u> lose

Your current module will be highlighted and checked. Just click on the module you want to switch to or use the hot-keys.

3.2 Fields

3.2.1 Names and Places

Fields for the entry of Names and Places have an ellipses at the right. This is the symbol with three dots.



You will also find fields with a triangle at the right.



These fields are connected to Lists and not to Names and Places.

When the field is empty, clicking on the ellipses with your mouse (or holding down the Alt key and tapping the down arrow key) will bring up a list of People or Places that are already in your computer. The particular list displayed will depend upon the field that you started from. Thus, a field calling for a name of a relative will lead to the basic People list, while a field calling for a clergy's name will lead to a list of Professionals, and a field calling for a cemetery will lead to a list of places. We refer to these lists as your Address Book.

📓 Address Book: Pe	opla (Browse)		EDX
	Name	City State	<u> </u>
	Cook, Frank M		
✓ OK			
O New 2			
Clone			
a la			-
Letter:			
Delete			
S Field			
X Cancel			
	3131		<u>×</u>

If the name you desire is already in the list, simply locate it and click on OK. At first, your lists will be short and you'll be able to scroll up and down to see if the name is there. When your lists become longer, you'll want to type part of the name in the box in the upper left hand corner of the list screen to jump down the list alphabetically. To avoid duplication, you should always look for the name to be sure it's not already there before adding new names.

If the name you want does not appear, press <u>New</u> and a window will appear to allow you to enter the information. You may also use Clone to create a new person retaining the last name and address from a prior person; Clone is a convenience when adding family members.

Fill in the fields and Click on OK to add the Name or Place to your list. Then click on OK again to select that name and return to the original field. The selected name will now appear in the field.

Once a name or place has been selected and filled into the field, clicking on the ellipses will lead you directly to the data entry screen for that person or place rather than to the list of names or places.

Title	Last Name	First Name John	M	ide Name Gey	Ending
AKA Kat		_	(Full) Maiden Na	me (if needed)	
Address 115 E. Michi	gan St.				
Chy			tate Zp	Sex	
Indianapolis			N 46256	Male	E
Phone 317-974-300	SSN 0 000-00-000	Birth Date 10/12/1957	Death Date 11/18/1999	Death/	Viter Sundown
oles			Hebrew Date of Kisley 9 5760	Death	
					C

You may change information as needed and then click on OK to save it.

3.2.2 Masked Fields

Some fields are masked. This means they contain formatting information.

Visitation Information				
Date	Time			
11/18/99	12:45 PM			
Notes				

Date and Time fields are both masked. The punctuation appears automatically and inappropriate information will be rejected. The slashes will not appear properly, however, if you fail to type in leading zeros. So September 4th should be typed in as 0904. If you type the year in as 2 digits, such as 00 for 2000, the computer will make an assumption about what century you intend and fill in a 4 digit year. Typing in all 4 digits of the year is a foolproof method of insuring the right year, but typing in 2 digits will work too as long as you remember to look to see that the computer completed the date as you intended.

Social Security number fields and telephone number fields are also masked. With telephone numbers, entering a (as the first character to precede the area code will allow you to simply key in the digits and the program will add the spaces and punctuation.

3.2.3 Lists

Fields with a triangle on the right lead to Lists.

	T

There are also fields with an ellipses at the right.

Grubbs, John Kirtley 🚥

These fields lead not to Lists but to Names and Places.

When you click on the triangle, a list of appropriate entries for the field will appear. This list will also



appear if you hold down the Alt Key and tap the Down Arrow Key, or once there is a list if you simply begin typing in the field.

When the list appears, you may use your mouse or the arrow keys to highlight your selection and then hit Enter or double click on it to close the list and put your choice in the field.

Some lists are predefined. For example, The Sex field in the illustration contains only two predefined choices: Male or Female.

Other lists are User Defined. For example, the City list will initially be empty but entries will be automatically be added to the list as you use the program. If you right click on a user list field (click on it with your right hand mouse button), a dialog box will appear allowing you to maintain your list.

🔝 Lookup List Ma	intenance		_O×
	CITY		- E
<u>New</u>	Ourtown		
d <mark>S</mark>] <u>E</u> dit			
Save			
R Delete			
7 Help			
👖 🖸 Dose			
	ļ		-

You can safely maintain your lists without worrying about messing up your older cases as the information from these lists is copied into each case. So if you have some cities, for example, in your lists that are far away from your funeral home, you may safely delete them without worrying about losing the city information in the cases for which those cities were entered.

3.2.4 Check Boxes

Fields whose only possible entry is a check mark are called Check Boxes.

🔽 OnObit

If you click on such a field with your mouse, the check mark will toggle on and off. By toggling we mean that if the field is empty clicking on it will put in the check mark, and if the field already has a

check mark clicking on it will remove it. You may also toggle the check mark with the space bar.

3.2.5 Notes

Buttons that say Notes lead to Note Fields.

Notes

Clicking on these Buttons opens a mini-word processor where you can enter paragraphs of information using the fonts and formatting you desire.



After you have written your notes and clicked on OK, you will return to the original window and now the Note Button will be checked.



This mark signals you that information has been entered into this particular Note field.

3.3 Lists of People

3.3.1 Family and Friends

People are entered into the Relatives list from this window.



When you click on New, a empty person record will be added to the top of the list and the Address Book will appear so that you can locate the name. Fill in the fields of the empty record as appropriate. The name field is a Person Field; however, if you want to find a person from the list but change the way the name appears for this case, you may do so. For example, you might want to find John Smith in the Address Book but change the name in your Relatives list to read Mr. and Mrs. John Smith.

You may also simply type in an entry without using your Address Book at all. For example, you might want to type in "3 Grandchildren" or "Several Nieces and Nephews" and you wouldn't want these phrases stored in the Address Book. To do this, either click on New to add a Relative and use Cancel to close the Address Book, or click on w/o Addr Book to add a record without bringing up the Book at all. The name of the spouse, mother, and father must be entered into the Address Book for use on government forms.

The relationship and city field are List Fields, and the remaining fields are Check Boxes.

Relatives are printed in the order they appear on this list which would initially be the order in which you chose to enter the names. However, the order may be changed. To move an entry, click on it and then click on the Red Up Arrow Symbol to move the name higher in the list or the Red Down Arrow Symbol to move it lower.

The Informant Button provides a quick way to copy the information for one of the family members to the Informant. Simply highlight the person who is to serve as the Informant and click on the button to copy the information to the First Call Tab. You may also do a similar operation in the other direction by first entering the Informant on the First Call Tab and then clicking a red arrow there to copy the information to the Family list.

3.3.2 Clergy and Musicians

The names of Clergy and Musicians are added into lists.

Music		
Musician	Role	<u> </u>
John Lennon		
-		
		•
Add	Delete	Notes

The Add Button adds a name to the list and the Delete Button removes a name. The Notes button below the Musicians list is a Note field for the entry of the Musical Selections.

If you click on a name in these lists, it will be highlighted and an ellipses will appear.

N Print Professional: Edit					LOX.
Madule					
09/04/2000	Cook,	Frank M			
Personal Senice Disposition Rel Funeral Home My Funeral Home Director	stive Picture Prin Votation Informa Date Notes	ting Time 1200 AM	Service Inform Date Place	tion Time 1200 AM	✓ Notes 1
Cergy Cergy Name		Music Musician		Role	
Add Edk Delete	¥ ✓ Notes	Add	E-dt	Delete	× Notes
🖓 Left Edge Adj. 🛛 🗸	≦ave X Ca	ncel 7 Be	1.00	•	

Doing so reveals that these names are actually Name Fields. Like all name fields you may click on the ellipses to bring up the underlying Person information from your Address Book.

Similarly, when you click on the Role Field in the musicians list, a triangle will appear revealing that this field is a List.

4 LedgerPRO

4.1 Overview

LedgerPRO is the electronic funeral ledger. It prepares all of the government forms including death certificates, burial permits, Veterans Administration claims and Social Security statements. Standard obituaries, clergy cards, and funeral ledgers as well as basic non-financial reports are also included. LedgerPRO looks and works like PrintPRO up until the point of printing when a different set of selections is presented.

When you chose LedgerPro from the Main Menu, you will be taken to the Find a Funeral Window.

4.2 First Call Tab

When you open a case in LedgerPRO, the Tabbed Notebook has the First Call Tab selected.

1/01/2002	Cook, I	rank M.		2002-00
re Cel Percent Medical Se	Hoe Disposition Vename Relative	Picture Printing		
5				
Per	rsonal tab. 🔼	`		
(···		Foresd Hone		
- Andrewson		My Fund al Kone	13	
Date	Time 1200 AM	Director		
Taken By		C. C. La	3	
		D' Lebanag Persona	Gine	
Nomet		Service Carry	Landa Lan	
Nation	8			
Relationarhip	2 2	E In At Need	C Is/Via Perced	
Appointment				
- Unit	Date Time	-	- í	
	3210.4M	<u></u>	**	

The Informant, Funeral Home, and Funeral Director are selected from the Address Book. Dates and Times are Masked Fields. Relationship, Group, Service Class and Service Type are all Lists. The Group list is initially empty. This field is a bonus field used in grouping cases for reports. Common uses for this field are zip codes, or town names, or church membership. A Note field is also available.

The red arrow to the right of the Informant is a short cut key. Clicking on this arrow will copy the Informant to the Family page.

4.3 Personal Tab

The Personal Tab has 3 sub-tabs in PrintPRO and 4 in LedgerPRO.

Hotele Eage	
11/01/2002	Cook, Frank
Personal Service Depositor, Rela	es [nose] need to
Residence (Bath Spince	(Maximize the)
	Window.
	Pecidence
	Decessed Cinck, Fork M.
	Address Clink Name
	Op 2 Sum
	20
	Decedent's Place et Worship

When you first click on the Personal Tab, the Residence sub-tab will be displayed. The address information is displayed for your convenience; but you can not edit these fields. If you wish to change the deceased's residence information, you must click on the ellipsis to the right of the name field to bring up the Address Book.

Clicking on the Birth sub-tab displays information about the deceased's birth.

09/04/2000 Personal Service Disposi Residence Birth Spour Born Cri Died	Cook, Frank M. Ion Relative Picture Pileting
Personal Service Disposi Besidence Bith Spou Bon Cr Died	ton Relative Picture Pinting e
Residence Birth Spour Born Died	e
- Bern Ci - Died	
04	Date 03/04/1942 Age 50 Yts 0 Mon 0 Days Hits Mins. Father 94 State Date 03/04/2000

The dates of birth and death are displayed from the Address Book and the Age is automatically calculated for you from those dates.

Clicking on the ellipsis to the right of Father or Mother will open the Address Book.

Type in the City & State for Birth and Death. As you begin to type, the program will look for the letters in the List of cities. You can also click on the arrow symbol without typing to go directly to the list.

The third sub-tab is Spouse.

Ledger Profes	sional. Edit	aioi xi
Module Page		
09/04/2000	Cook, Frank M.	
First Call Personal	Medical Service Disposition Veteran Relative Picture Printing	
Presidence Birth	Spoure Mise	
	Save X Cancel ? Heb Dose	

The name of the spouse is not actually entered here but it is displayed here for your convenience. The name is entered on the Relatives Tab using Husband or Wife as the Relationship. Here you may type in the Place and Date of Marriage if these are relevant to the documents you wish to print.

LedgerPRO adds a Misc sub-tab with additional fields that are relevant to government forms.

Lodges Professionist Edit			LO X
Hodule Eage			
09/04/2000	Cook,	Frank M.	
First Call Personal Medical S	ervice Disposition V	eteran Relative Picture Printing	
Residence Birth Spouse N	fec		
Demographics Education Origin Roce Mashal Status Cilicenship	⊢ Hispanic	Employment Industry Occupation Employer How Many Yean?	
	🖌 Save 🗶 Ca	ncel 7 Beb 🗍 Doce	

4.4 Medical Tab

Selecting the Medical Tab displays:
Model Proce OBNO4/2000 Cook, Frank M. First Call Personal Medical Service Disposition Version Relative Pocuse Printing Pioce ID Date of Death Date of Death Death Date of Death Death Date of Death Death Date of Death Date of Death Date of Death Death Date of Death Death Date of Death Death Date of Death Promounced 7 / 1200 AM Place of Death Hoopkal/Residence/Other/ Pace of Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death Death<	N Ledger Professional: Edit.				LO X
0990-4/2000 Cook, Frank M. Fat Call Personal Medical Service Disposition Version Relative Packet Persons Face & Date Center Date of Death Date of Death Date Time Dead 970-02000 12:00 AM Place of Death Hospital Place of Death Deate Time Deate Tim	Module Page				
First Call Personal Medical Senice Disposition Network Relative Personal Place ID Date Center Date Date Time Date Time Hospital Personanced 7 / 12:00 AM Place of Death Hospital/Residence/Other? Warrer of Death Other Place Warrer of Death Corry V V Locally V Tomahip V	09/04/2000	Cook	r, Frank M.		
Place II Date Death Date Death Deat 2400200 2200 AH Place of Death Hoopkal Place of Death Hoopkal Death Place of Death Northology Namer of Death Namer of Death Nam	Fint Call Personal Medical S	ervice Disposition	Veteran Relative Picture P	tinting	
Date of Death Date Deate Hoopital Place Place Place Place Place Death Place Death Place Death Place Death Deate Death De	Place L Date Centiler				
Autopy Referred Findings Death De	Date of Death Date Died 03/04/2 Pronounced 77	Time 000 12:00 AM 12:00 AM	Place of Death Hospital Place of Death Second Death	Hospital/Residence/Other	7
	F Autopy F Ref Manner of Death	eeed Findings	City Dation City Cution County Locally Township	N N N	

This information is used for your death certificate. Many of the fields lead to the Address Book or to Lists and a few are Check Boxes.

The Place of Death field is used for check boxes on the certificates. The similar looking Hospital/Residence/Other field is used to specify which of those three possible locations contains the address for the place of death to be used on the certificate.

Local practice varies considerably on what medical information is filled in by the funeral home and what is filled in by the Doctor when he signs the form. Simply leave blank any fields that will contain information which the Doctor will provide. If you find you want to record such information for historical purposes but not have it printed on the certificate, call our support department and arrange for an adjusted form that will not print the information the Doctor will provide even if you have entered it in your computer.

4.5 Service Tab

Clicking on the Service Tab displays:

Paint Professional Edit					10 ×
09/04/2000	Cook,	Frank N	и.		
Personal Service Disposition R Funeral Home My Funeral Home ind Director	slative Picture Pi Valation Inform Date Notes	inting Nation Time 1200 AM	Service Info Date Place	Time 1200 AM	✓ Notes
Oergy Corgy Name	-	Musician Musician	112	Role	
Add Edt Delete	⊻ Viotes	Add	Edt	Delete	¥ √Notes
🖓 Left Edge Adj. 🛛 🗸	Save X C	ancel 7 B	90 I G	ksce	

The Funeral Home will be filled in from the information you supplied when you Created the Funeral. The Director's name on the left and the Place of Service on the right have ellipses which means they will be filled in from the Address Book.

In LedgerPRO, the Funeral Home and Director appear both on this page and the First Call Tab but the information is identical. In PrintPRO, there is no First Call Tab so the information must be entered here.

The Clergy and Music sections are Lists of People. The Date and Time fields are Masked.

This Tab includes several Notes fields. These fields allow you to type paragraphs of information for inclusion on your cards.

4.6 Disposition Tab

Clicking on the Disposition Tab displays:

	Name Date Two Converses	
0-e	en Locatos	
	Vider View	
	✓ tate: ✓ fame: ✓ (tex	

The Cemetery is a Place. The Method of Disposition is a List. The Date and Time field are Masked. The Grave Location may simply be typed in. A Note field is provided for additional information concerning the disposition. Flowers and Shiva (special information for Jewish services) are also Note fields. Several Fields appear on this Tab in LedgerPRO that do not appear in PrintPRO.

4.7 Veteran Tab

When you select the Veteran Tab, this window appears.

NLedger Dolessional	fdk E	
09/04/2000	Cook, Frank M.	
Peri Cal Perioral Med General 401330 2163	Col Senice Disposition Version Relative Prices Pri 2 2001 27500 information Common/Organization Delan Name Senice Related Death F7 State Cemetery ? Who Files Vehore Funds Calmant Authorizing	
	✓ Save X Cancel ? Heb	Dooe

This data is used for Veteran's Administration Forms. Many of the fields are Lists. A Note field is provided on the general sub-tab.

The data is organized by Form Number. If you do not plan to file a particular form, there is no reason to complete that sub-tab.

4.8 Relative Tab



People are entered into the Relatives list from this window.

When you click on New, a empty person record will be added to the top of the list and the Address Book will appear so that you can locate the name. Fill in the fields of the empty record as appropriate. The name field is a Person Field; however, if you want to find a person from the list but change the way the name appears for this case, you may do so. For example, you might want to find John Smith in the Address Book but change the name in your Relatives list to read Mr. and Mrs. John Smith.

You may also simply type in an entry without using your Address Book at all. For example, you might want to type in "3 Grandchildren" or "Several Nieces and Nephews" and you wouldn't want these phrases stored in the Address Book. To do this, either click on New to add a Relative and use Cancel to close the Address Book, or click on w/o Addr Book to add a record without bringing up the Book at all. The name of the spouse, mother, and father must be entered into the Address Book for use on government forms.

The relationship and city field are List Fields, and the remaining fields are Check Boxes.

Relatives are printed in the order they appear on this list which would initially be the order in which you chose to enter the names. However, the order may be changed. To move an entry, click on it and then click on the Red Up Arrow Symbol to move the name higher in the list or the Red Down Arrow Symbol to move it lower.

The Informant Button provides a quick way to copy the information for one of the family members to the Informant. Simply highlight the person who is to serve as the Informant and click on the button to copy the information to the First Call Tab. You may also do a similar operation in the other direction by first entering the Informant on the First Call Tab and then clicking a red arrow there to copy the information to the Family list.

4.9 Picture Tab

The Picture Tab communicates with TWAIN compliant scanners to acquire pictures. It also lets you manage Clip Art by moving the selector below the picture from Deceased Pic to Clip Art.



As you move your mouse over the icons, they will tell you what they do. For example, the first icon is for opening files. You would use this if the picture had already been scanned and was on your computer as a file. The second icon saves pictures to a file format. The program will save the pictures into a database and you do not need to also save them as a file unless you want to use them in other programs. The third icon will print the image. The fourth icon triggers your scanner while the fifth allows you to specify which scanner to use. Next are several icons that deal with zooming and the clipboard. Then there are icons to invert or rotate images. The final icon leads to the effect manager.



This screen provides advanced options to alter your picture. Some of the choices are fairly obvious in meaning; for example, Borders allows you to enclose your picture with a border and to specify its shape and color. Other choices are mysterious, and experimentation is the best way to learn what they do. We have included help topics written by the author of the effect manager (we purchased this part of the program from an outside company) which may be helpful if you wish to explore the advanced options.

Changing the selector to Clip Art produces:



Once again you have a row of controls. Clicking on the first icon will open folders.

Open	100 B			1
Look jez 🖓 Clip A	t	- 🗈 🖾	21 🗊 💷	
10commands	20 Cross	📓 lah1	in interest	
😰 3crossoval	🖬 cross3	📓 feh2	John316	
📓 airlorce	💆 010885	1 Flowers	E kavaris	
📓 amyflag	g crossgid1	goldesuccr	S lione_bw	
butterflyor	Measteristar_bw	1 hands_1	f lione_color	
Church	eactemptar_color	hands_2	f menorah	
			21	
File pame:		_	Open	
Files of type: At S	apported Media Formats		Cancel	

This displays the images the Clip Art folder. It is not necessary to select the Art you wish to use here. This is the place where you work with your images. You could delete an image, rename it, or open it and use the controls to add effects. You use Advanced to control the actual image printed in a particular print job.

You can use the Scan Image Control to add images to this folder. You could also download images from the internet or purchase them on cd and place them into this folder.

4.10 Forms

LedgerPro prints government forms and basic service forms. Examples of government forms are Death Certificates, VA Claims, and Social Security Forms. Basic service forms include Funeral Ledgers and Obituaries.

When you click on the Forms tab in LedgerPro, a list of installed Forms will appear. Installing and printing your first form is discussed at length in the tutorial: Printing Your First Government Form.

Do not be concerned if a particular government form is not included on your CD. We have a large inventory of forms programmed for our earlier versions and are moving them into this version on a state by state basis. If you decide to purchase the program, we will immediately begin work on translating the forms. This normally only takes a few weeks although if you are in a state that allows the form to be printed on plain paper it may take longer to obtain health department approval of our facsimile form.

4.11 Obituaries

37

Ledger Professional: Edit	3.0		.(a) ×
09/04/2000	Cook, Frank M.		
First Call Personal Medical Si	ervice Disposition Veteran Relative Pic	ture Pinting	
Forms ObiLary			
Page 1 Page 2			
Decessed Lockute Mr. Mrs. etc. C. Logal Name ARA Logal Name ARA Include Address Include Address Include City	 C Include Cause Of Death C Include Marcer Of Death C Onit Cause Of Death C Onit Cause Of Death Include Coupation Include Education Include Military Service 	Informant Filoclude Name Filoclude Address Filoclude Phone Filoclude Relationship	
	re Thickness 1	el Pere l	
			_
	Save X Cancel ? Help	Dose .	

Obituary printing provides for a great deal of user customization.

After you decide which information should be included, you should click on Save Settings and give them a name.

Standard Obituary Configuration Save)	?×
Save jn: 🔤 Acs	- 🗈 🗵	1 🖻	
Data			
🖄 EmptyData			
			_
File name: Durtown Post			Save
Save as type: Obituaries			Cancel

We suggest naming your Obituary configurations with the names of your newspapers. Once you have saved a configuration you can call it back up using the list to the left of the Save Setting button. You may want to save different setups for the various newspapers in your area.

Some newspapers insist on very specific obituary formats. If your newspaper will not accept any of the variations that are possible here, mail us a copy of the form and we determine if a custom format is possible and quote a price.

4.12 Basic Reports

Reports list information on more than one Funeral. Accordingly, they are printed not from within an individual Funeral but from the list of Funerals. Basic reports are in LedgerPro. At-need financial reports are printed from the list of Funerals in A/R Pro, and preneed financial reports are printed from the list of Funerals in P/N Pro.

Basic reports are printing by clicking on the Report Button on LedgerPRO's Find a Funeral Screen.



Doing so produces the Report Menu.

S Funeral Reports		10000000 Hits	E6 8
Farma Service By			
Doler 17: Decessed Name 17: Decessed Name 17: Date Mexessed 17: Date Mexessed	Contracted Name	Death Date (Funciel No. Subtrace (Hadhamad	1
F Alfuent C Athen C Sexual Period C Athen Period C All Period			
Date Range Feam To To To			
2 0m			
			2

Funeral reports list basic information about cases meeting the criteria you specify. Services By reports group the cases by people or professionals.

4.13 Letters

Letters may be printed from many places in the program. A Letters Button appears in the Address Book so that you can send a letter to anyone you have dealt with. Letters may also be sent to the Payors in a Contract. Pressing any Letters Button leads to:

<u>Open</u>	Save	Print	Envelope	Date Format mmmm d. yyyy	비지	Director Name Funeral Home Include Address
		Tare			,.	

Click on Open to bring up the list of stored Letters.

Open		1989					2 X
Look jn: 🕞	Data		Ē	2	ď		
sample.ltr							
ini scitri.ltr							
scitt2.tr							
sciltr4.ltr							
File name:	F					<u>O</u> pen	
Files of type:	Letters			۲		Cancel	

We suggest you start by looking at sample.ltr although you will eventually want to look at the other letters which are designed for use in billing, too. When you open sample.ltr, you will return to the previous window.

<u>Open</u>	Save	Pint	Envelope	Date Format		Director Name
Glose	New	∐ake		Innuur o' 1999	R	Include Address
<date></date>						
<address Ladies and</address 	, I Gentlemer	nc.				
Replace th Gentlemen program w address of Funeral Ho right. Righ fonts and s Save and g Sincerely,	is paragrapi " and "Sinc ill replace « the person wine Name t clicking or nargins. If give your let	h with the cerely," if y <date> wi you are w and Addro n this letter you want t tter a new</date>	text of you rou prefer ith today's rriting, and ess depend r will prod to use the l name befo	ar letter. You ; other words. date, <addre: <closing> wi ing upon what uce a menu thi uce a menu thi etter more that are you click of</closing></addre: 	may edit When yo ss> with th the Di t you hav at will all n once, r n Make.	"Ladies and vu click on Make, the the name and rector's Name and/or re checked at the top ow you to change remember to chick on

As you can see, sample.ltr contains a basic letter format with instructions in the place of the body. Erase the body of the letter and replace it with your desired text. You may also change the formatting by clicking on the letter with your right hand mouse button to bring up a menu.

LedgerPRO 40



Chosing \underline{E} dit from this menu will bring up an alternate editing screen with a toolbar. Choosing \underline{F} ont will let you change the font. Bullet Style will format a list of items. Paragraph will adjust margins and indentations. Tabs sets tabs.

As you see, sample.ltr includes structural items in brackets like <Date>. These are Tags. When you click on <u>Make these tags will be replaced with data</u>. <Date> becomes today's date. <Address> becomes the name and address of the person to whom the letter is being sent. Closing becomes the name of the person signing the letter. You may change the font to be used for the data by changing the font on the Tag. You may also move the tag. For example, if you want the date to be centered or right justified, you would highlight the tag, right click to bring up the menu, and then choose Paragraph. Use the drop down list and the check boxes at the upper right of the screen to format the <Date> and <Closing>, respectively.

<u>O</u> pen	Save	Pint	Envelope Date Format Director Name
Çlose	New	Make	Findude Address

When the letter is to your satisfaction click on <u>Save</u>. Always save before using <u>Make</u> so that your Tags and not the instance data are saved.

Save As		1666888		X.	11- ⁰⁰⁰		2	×
Save jr: 🕞	Data		<u>-</u>	Ē		ď		
 sample.hr sciltr1.hr sciltr2.hr sciltr3.hr sciltr4.hr 								
File name:	sample			_			Save	
Save as type:	Letters				-		Cancel	

If you were to just click save at this point, you would overwrite the sample letter and lose the instructions. Also, when you next updated your program, your letter would be overwritten with our sample letter. So, change the name to something appropriate before saving.

<u>New clears the screen so that you may type a fresh letter</u>. <u>Close does not close the current letter</u>; it closes the entire letter writing process taking you back to the prior screen.

Print brings up the Windows printer dialog.

Name:	HP DeskJet 6600	▼ Prop	erties
Status: Type: Where: Comment	Default printer: Ready HP DeskJet 660C LPT1:		
Print range	form to form	Copies Number of gopies: [1] 22 33 f	1 곳 Collate

Envelope leads to a dialog

Envelopes & Labels	
🔽 Include Return Address	T Include Address
Upper 2	Upper 👥 🚔
Left 3	Left 0
Print <u>E</u> nvelope	

where you may position the addresses before printing.

5 A/R PRO

5.1 Overview

A/R PRO is for accounts receivable. This is where you enter the financial information for your at-need calls, and print bills, statements, and financial reports.

When you chose A/R Pro from the Main Menu, you will be taken to the Find a Funeral Window.

While a person may only have one Funeral, they may have more than one A/R Contract. Why would you want a second contract? You might sell a monument before or after the service and want to bill for it separately. You might want to keep the items that had been prearranged on one contract, and use a second contract for additions purchased at the time of need. You might have items that you want to bill to another funeral home instead of the family. You might have had multiple preneed contracts funded differently that you want to keep separate on the at-need side. We are sure you can think of even more reasons for multiple contracts.

The process of creating the Funeral is the same in each module. However, when you open the Funeral in A/R PRO, you will be brought to a screen which lists all of the Contracts for that deceased.

Accounts Received	Adds Freed A.Francescol					HG 8
where many the start of some	on to search for	Contactio	Date of Sale Deceased Name	Current Balance	light Dage Last P	aprilement (Charl He
		2001-0001	62/05/2002 Cook, Frank	\$3,950.00	\$3.995.00	
Seath By	Set Options					
Creation	C Constitution					
C Date of Death	C Date of Sale					
C Other Names	C Person Name					
G AR Contract	Which Contracts					
Preconact	IF ABAccounts					
	C PadAccounts					
- Dien	C Balancei Due					
O See 1	C Restaulture					
a Course I						
an Tona 1						
2d Sevices	Easterils					
2344	Interest					
2	Partici					
. (Date	Eaton					
		4101				- M

Notice that in the above illustration Search By has been changed from Deceased Name to A/R Contract. You may chose how to Search by clicking on your selection. Searching By A/R Contract reveals information and choices that are specific to the A/R module.

5.2 Creating, Editing, or Deleting a Contract

To create a New Contract, click the New Button at the top of the Contract List Window

New	<u>S</u> td Service	Billing	Sales Codes
Edit	Interest	<u>₩</u> rite Off	Stock
Delete	Post	∐fer P/N	Untransfer

to bring up the New/Edit Contract Window.

Contract No. Date of Sale					_ 50
2006-001 01-01/2006	Deceased Nar Cook, Frank N	ae A	-	Funeral No \$2006-001	Date of Death
Director	Loca	tion		IF Adminis	,
	-	oetor Conpute	Services, Inc	Enbatring	
iginal Charge Most Recent Po \$0.00	ajment \$0.00	Current Balance \$0.00	Final Payment Date	Þ	
Billing Type Annual 18:00 Annual 18:00 Deer Grace 00 Annual Annual Conce 01:701-7006 Annual Interest Compound Interest	Sales T State [Rate 1 [Rate 2 [Exemption [Cap]	ax Info 5 00 2 00 \$0.00 \$0.00	☐ Needs Pooling ☐ Was Prevend ☐ Bad Debt	Reason For Re	quied Purchases

The funeral number will be supplied as the contract number but you can change it. If you didn't assign a funeral number, you will need to insert a contract number.

Enter the funeral director, funeral home location, and billing type then correct the Dale of Sale and the interest and sales tax information, if necessary, and press <u>S</u>ave.

The Date of Sale is the date that will appear on the Statement of Goods and Services Selected. Transactions on the Original Charges tab will carry this date unless you change it.

The Funeral Director and the Funeral Home location are Places to be selected from your Address Book.

Billing Type is useful for separating contracts into groups. For example, you can identify contracts that have been referred to collection or ones that have insurance. A Billing Type of Normal means that no other type has been specified.

The Interest Rate field contains the Annual Percentage Rate. Days Grace is the number of days you allow before you charge interest. Once you fill in this field, a date appears in the next field indentifying the end of the grace period. If you check Accrue Interest From Grace, interest will be charged from the end of the grace period. If you do not check this box, interest will not be charged until after the grace period ends but once interest is charge it will be charged from the original contract date. Thus, if you use a 30 day grace period, checking this box will charge 30 days less interest. If you check Compound Interest, interest will be charged on interest; otherwise, interest will be charged only on principal. Interest is always calculated on the basis of a 365 day year with any changes in the balance being taken into account day by day.

The three checkboxes on the right (Needs Posting, Was Preneed, and Bad Debt) are normally checked for you by the program when appropriate. The Original Charge, Most Recent Payment, Current Balance, and Final Payment Date are also calculated for you by the program.

Embalming and Reason for Required Purchases are the FTC disclosures to be printed on the Contract (Statement of Goods and Services). If you handwrite this form with the family, you do not need to fill in these fields unless you want a record of the disclosures.

If you need to Edit a Contract you have already created, highlight your contract and click on the Edit Button at the top of the List Window to bring back the New/Edit Window.

You Delete a Contract by highlighting it and clicking on the Delete Button at the top of the List Window.

5.3 Standard Services

We highly recommend entering Standard Services as soon as possible. Each Standard Service is a list of items that may be copied into a contract. Standard Services are entered by selecting <u>Std</u> Services from the Find a Funeral Screen in A/R PRO or P/N PRO. The same Standard Services are available for you use in both at-need and preneed contracts.

Selecting this option brings up the Standard Services Editor.

Event taxe Text Description of United Flowshoft, Textors Text Description Te	Standard Contracts 1 dat	_	-	(Se	lew rvice.	
Der San Card Strongen P Conformation of the first state at a second of the first state at a s	Envice Name Sciences Proditional	Total Diagon Carl Updated 11.000 III 02/06/2002 11.000 III 02/06/2002	Quectur® Director	A New Col	Station Sector	Star P.N	Seits Codes Stock University
	Date Safe Code Recognize 0:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:00:0	en d'henn 13 ann d'he lar	New Selecter	Item In J Servic	e. 5		See Lo Detes Detes Local

The Editor looks very much like the Contract List although some buttons have been disabled. To enter a Standard Service click on New.

Let Updated	Service Name				
Original Charge	Most Recent Pa	proent	Current Balance	Final Payment Date	
Billing Type		Tax Tax R Tax R Tax Exen	State <u>Y</u> ale 1 ale 2 ption	Reason For Required Purc	hases
Accue Intere	nt From Grace	Ta	(Cap		
		Save	X Cancel	Soles	

Enter a Service Name and Click on <u>Save</u>. Typical names for Standard Services are Traditional, Cremation, Graveside, Catholic, and Ship-Out. Any combination of items that you typically offer as a group is a candidate for a Standard Service. You should ignore the interest, sales tax, and disclosure fields as the program does not take this information from Standard Services.

Use the New Button at the right to add transactions to your service.

Notice that the Standard Services page has a Standard Services button at the top of it. You may use this feature to copy one Standard Service into another one.

5.4 Creating, Editing, or Deleting Transactions

Once you have created a Contract or a Standard Service, you can add transactions to it.

Holde	ts Decemandar Trabi		_		_	Line 1
	Borshoff, Myr	a Jean			P	002-000
Contract	No. [Dele of Sale] Degree Desge[Covers Balance] (as Pigment	Con Decement Name	New Edk Delete	Interes Jonest Ext	A Sard Xue Ca Xue Ca	Sales Doder Skock Untarofer
Dan B	Salt Code Decoptor	Anourt	_		AT	San E.R Quinte Duinte Al Salte Lar
					1	

Using Standard Services greatly simplifies the process or adding transactions. If you have created Standard Services, just click on the Standard Services Button at the top of the Accounts Receivable Edit Screen and a list of your Services will appear.

Select A Standard Service			
Service Name	Total Charges	Service No	La 🔺
Graveside	\$1,950.00	Std10	12
Traditional	\$2,775.00	Std6	12
×1=1			
✓ 0 <u>K</u> ×	Cancel		_

Select the Service name that is most appropriate and click O<u>K</u> and all of the transactions from that Standard Service will be copied into your Contract or Service. Yes, you can copy one Standard Service into another one or copy more than one Standard Service into a single Contract.

0	genal Charger	Addition	#Darger & Dedts Pavold		
Π	Date	Sale Code	Description	Anourt	* Sev
E	12/05/2002	\$5-01	Basic Services of Director & Staff	\$1,500.00	14
10	82/05/2002	55-82	Enbalming	\$150.00	
10	\$2,05/2002	15-08	Other Preparation of the Body	\$200.00	Delete
	12/05/2002	ME-01	Cacket as selected	\$2,000,00	
0	82/05/2002	Txdt	State Sales Tax	\$100.00	Delete All
					<u></u>
					zi i

Notice that this Standard Service included a transaction for a Casket without a price. Including items without prices in your Standard Services simplifies completing the actual contract. Select the Casket Item and click on the Edit button to the right of the transactions to bring up the screen to edit this transaction.

Transaction Edit	
ContractNo Date Sales Code Stock No 2001-0001 12/11/2007 Y ME-01 Y	
Description	Amount
Casket as selected	
	Taxable1
	I axable2
Detail	Con Contract?
Vendor	Posted
Serial No	
Save 🔀 Add Another 🗶 Canc	9

Fill in the price or better yet enter a Stock Number and click on <u>Save or Add Another</u>. Either button will add the revised item to the list. <u>Add</u> Another clears the Edit Window so you can create more transactions while <u>Save</u> takes you back to the transaction list.

Clicking on the New Button to the right of the transaction list opens the same Transaction Window we just discussed. When we saw this window before the Sales Code (ME-01) had been filled in from the Standard Service, but when you enter a new transaction you will begin by specifying this code. In a new contract the first charge is normally of type SS-01, the Basic Services of Director and Staff. SS indicates Services Staff. The casket charge was an ME or Merchandise Item. Other types are SU (Services - Use of Facilities), SA (Services - Auto), SP (Services - Package), CA (Cash Advances), etc.

Stock provides a short cut for filling in all the other fields for this item. Click on the three dots to bring up the stock list for items matching the specified Sales Code.

Two taxable checkboxes are provided. Your State may not charge Sales Tax in which case you may ignore these checkboxes. If your State taxes some items and not others, check the Taxable1 box on the items subject to tax. Some States have more complicated tax rules which bring both checkboxes into use. By default Taxable 1 is checked for Merchandise items; you may change the default conditions of the Tax checkboxes by modifying the Sales Codes.

The Posted checkbox indicates whether the transaction has been sent to an integrated bookkeeping program. It is not normally necessary to check or uncheck this box manually.

The On Contract checkbox indicates whether the transaction is part of the Original Contract or belongs in Additional Charges and Credits. You may have noticed that tabs above the transactions carry these designations. Normally you will place a transaction on one tabsheet or the other by selecting that tab before you add the transaction; however, you can move a transaction to the other tabsheet by adding or removing the check in the On Contract box.

Additional Charges and Credits does not mean items over and above your standard offering. It means items selected after the FTC mandated contract was prepared. Payments not made at the time of the original contract would go into Additional Charges and Credits as would Interest. While payments may be added within the contract just as any other item, they may also be added using the Payments Button that appears on the Find A Funeral Window when Search By is set to A/R Contracts.

Separate Buttons are provided to <u>D</u>elete and to Delete All. The first button deletes only the selected transaction which Delete All deletes all of the items in a single step.

The red arrows pointing up and down allow you to change the order of the transactions. Select a

transaction and click on the up arrow to move it higher in the list or the down arrow to move it lower.

When you have entered all of your contract items, you add Sales Tax by clicking on the Sales Tax button at the top of the screen. This will add tax using the rates entered into the contract taking into account the checkboxes in the individual items. Interest transactions are also added using a button at the top of the screen.

5.5 Payors

Payors are entered within the contract.

Digini Deger Addina Deger, LCodiy Fr New boxs, Eq carey, Ands	Address [22]4 Mar-(need Indexes (22]4 Mar-(need Indexes)6, three (54)%
an a	

A contract may have more than one payor.

5.6 Funeral Detail

A fourth tab in the transaction area is labeled Funeral Detail. The same information appears in at-need and preneed contracts although the other tabs are labeled slightly differently depending up which module you are using.

Gignal Diages Additional Diage	er & Deriki Payold Funeral Detai
Fureni II Konstant	Goog Service Type
Entraining President	

This tab provides access to some fields that are normally entered in LedgerPRO. These fields are used in reports. They may be accessed here if you find that more convenient or you do not own LedgerPRO.

5.7 Sales Tax

To add Sales Tax, click the Sales Tax button on the right hand side of the Original Charges tab sheet.

Date	Sale Code	Devolption	Anouri	- See
12/05/2002	\$5-01	Basic Services of Director & Staff	\$1,500.00	100
02/05/2002	55-82	Enbalming	\$150.00	
\$2/05/2002	15-08	Other Preparation of the Body	\$200.00	Delet
12/05/2002	ME-01	Cacket as selected	\$2,000.00	The second
\$2/05/2002	Toda	State Sales Tax	\$100.00	Dielens
				.

The rules for calculating Sales Tax are determined by the Contract and the individual items. The tax rates are specified in the Contract.

Contract No Date of Sale 2006-001 01-01/2008	Deceased Name Cock, Frank M	•		Funeral No Date of Deal 2006-001 01./01./2006
Director	Locate	on antor Consult	Services inc.	Ø Admater
inginal Charge Most Res \$0.00	ent Payment C \$0.00	ument Balance \$0.00	Final Payment Date	Lineating
Billing Type Annual Days of Rade Days Grace Ind at Grace Ch./Sh./2006 Accuse Interest From Grace Compound Interest	Sales Ta State State Rate 1 Rate 2 Exemption Cap	s Info 5 00 2 00 90 00 90 00	☐ Needs Pooling ☐ Was Prevent ☐ Bad Debt	Reason For Required Purchase

The Tax State is the two letter abbreviation for the State whose tax rules apply to this contract. Tax Rate 1 is the rate which will be applied to Items which have Taxable 1 checked. Tax Rate 2 will be applied to Items with Taxable 2 checked. Exemption and Cap are only needed in a few states so if these terms are unfamilar, you probably should skip these fields.

The following screen shows a merchandise item with Taxable 1 checked.

M Transaction Edit	
ContractNo Date Sales Code Str 2001-0001 12/17/2007 Y ME-01 Y	ock No
Description	Amount
Casket as selected	
	_
	Taxable1
	Taxable2
Detail	P On Contract?
Vendor	Posted
Serial No Serial	Cancel

By default Taxable 1 is checked for Merchandise items; you may change the default conditions of the Tax checkboxes by modifying the Sales Codes.

5.8 Interest

To add Interest to a single contract, click the Interest button at the top of the Contract List.



To add Interest to all of your contracts, click on the Interest button which appears on the left of the Find a Funeral Window when you set Search By to A/R or P/N Contracts.

Order Day Soft Optimit C Decessed Name C Context No C Date of Sale Date of Sale C Other Name C Date of Sale C Other Name C Date of Sale C Other Name C Person Name C Other Name C ArR Contract C Net Contract C ArR Contract C Date of Sale C Paid Accounts C Date C Balances Due D Benot Paid Debts Std Senices Paidene C Beoot Interest Posting Eakon	Cauch Do	··· Cod Bolizon
Contact the Contact the Contact the Contact the Contact the Contact Conta	C Decessed Name	C Contract No.
Clate of Sale Clate	C Eurecal Number	Contract No
C Other Names C A/R Contract P/N Contract P/N Contract P/N Contract P/N Contract P/N Contract P aid Accounts P	C Date of Death	C Date of Sale
 G A/R Contract P/N Contract P Al Accounts C Paid Accounts C Paid Accounts C Bad Debts C Bed Debts C Needing Posting Beport Posting Dose Eakon 	C Other Names	C Person Name
PAN Contract Al Accounts Paid Accounts Paid Accounts Paid Accounts Balances Due	A/R Contract	Which Contracts
Paid Accounts Paid Accounts Balance Due Balan	C P/N Contract	(Al Accounts
Constant Services		C Paid Accounts
C New C Bad Debts C New C Needing Posting Report Payments Report Interest Pad Debts Posting	✓ Open	C Balances Due
Steer C Needing Posting Std Services Dyments Std Services Interest Posting Posting Theb Posting Does Eakon		C Bad Debts
Poleto Std Services Payments Beport Interest Pleb Posting Dose Eakon	() New	C Needing Posting
Std Services Payments Beport Interest ? Help Posting Dose Eakon	20 Delete	
20 services	Cod Con Game	Domeste
Beport Interest Posting Dose Eakon	To service:	Cayneria
? Help Posting I Dose Eakon	Beport 8	Interest
Ealcon	? Help	Posting
	10 cm	Entrop
	71.7006	Lacon

The rules for calculating interest are specified in the Contract.

Contract No Date of Sal 2006-001 01/200	6 Decessed Name		Funeral No Date of Death 2006-001 01/01/2006 •
Director	Location	_	Ø Admater
	en Arrowston Co	nguter Services, Inc. 🚥	Entraining
iginal Ovarge Most Re \$0.00	cent Payment Current Ba \$0.00 \$0.0	lance Final Payment Date 0	
Billing Type Annual Annual Status Annual Status Diago Grace 30 CC Ind of Grace 01/201/2006 Account Interest From Gra Compound Interest	Sales Tax Info State 2 Rate 1 500 Plate 2 200 Exemption 500 Cap 500	Needs Posteg Was Prevent Bad Date	Reacon For Required Purchases

The Interest Rate field contains the Annual Percentage Rate. Days Grace is the number of days you allow before you charge interest. Once you fill in this field, a date appears in the next field indentifying the end of the grace period. If you check Accrue Interest From Grace, interest will be charged from the end of the grace period. If you do not check this box, interest will not be charged until after the grace period ends but once interest is charge it will be charged from the original contract date. Thus, if

49

you use a 30 day grace period, checking this box will charge 30 days less interest. If you check Compound Interest, interest will be charged on interest; otherwise, interest will be charged only on principal. Interest is always calculated on the basis of a 365 day year with any changes in the balance being taken into account day by day.

5.9 Billing

Two different buttons lead to billing. If you want to bill a single case, you would use the Billing Button at the top of the Contract Screen.



If you want to bill a batch of cases, you would first click on Report from the A/R PRO or P/N PRO Find a Funeral Screen.



Then you would use the screen that appears to identify the batch,

Accounts Receivable & Sales 1	legion te				
Receivables Sales Analysis	Date Tanges Clutter Clutter Clutter Clutter Clutter MacRis Dates From Clutter From	Contact No.	San Dan 93/17/2904 16/97/2009	Decreared Name Bucks, Pag Cook, Pagek M.	
Doe	Fort III Top Magin Left Hagin Flight Hagin [025 1 025 1 025 1 025 1				ہے۔

and then click on Billing. This brings up the same screen that appears when you select billing from the Contract Screen.

Type of Bill Stalement - Standar	dol 🖌 Cont	act B
Top 0.5 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Line Items Space Alter Section Tries Ordnut Fort Running Totals Orginal Charges Subtrations Orginal Charges: Total Original Charges: Findude I'M Section	Addional Darges & Deda Addional Darges & Deda Deal Samaater Samaater Additional Charges & Cr Total Additional Charges Amount Carrently Due Paid In Fut
Text for zero dollar amounts [48,880.00	Third party payments to m	

Several predefined Billing Formats are provided. Use the Type of Bill Field to select one.

🖻 Memorandum - Cash Advance Breakout.bill 👘	
🖻 Memorandum - Right Justified.bill	
🖻 Memorandum - Standard.bill	
🛋 Statement - Standard.bill	

Memorandums print the transactions from the Original Contract while Statement include the Additional Charges and Credits. We suggest you begin by printing out each of the predefined formats to see which you like best. As you do so, you will see that selecting a Type of Bill fills in the various fields in the Billing Screen.

Below the margins fields, you will find a section headed Location Name. In our formats None has been selected which would be appropriate if you are printing on your letterhead. Of course, you may have to adjust the top margin to bring the printing down below your pre-printed heading. If you wish to print your bills on plain paper, you can change this field to print your main office name and address or the name and address of the particular location which handled this service. Clicking on the triple dots will allow you to change the fonts.

📓 Memorandums 🗄 Statements
Statements & Memorandia A/R Forme Letters
Type of Bill (Memorandum - Standard bill 💌
P Include Contact # IP Include Day Date of Statement Sta
Mage Bod have your name and address print at
Let 05 5 075 the top in a font of Additional Durges & Dedu
Location Name
Location Nates Tep 0 (Construct Charges Construction Address)
Message Fort
Due from the bottom.
Save Save As Birt Print & Envelope 1 Door

A message area is in the lower left hand corner. Several special key words are available for your use in messages. <date> will be replaced with the current date. <sold> will become the contract date. <grace> will become the date interest begins. <due> will become the current balance. <apr> will become the interest rate.

After you have selected a format (or formats) that you will use, you may change the fields and <u>Save</u> them or use Save As to give your own name to the modified format. For example, you might choose to use Save As to create a series of statements with messages of increasing severity to use as the case becomes older.

With the format selected, click on <u>Print</u> to bring up the Printer Dialog.

🔛 Menson andrama B. Statements	C 🗙
Statements & Memoranda A/R: Formo Letters	
Type of Bit Metocander-Standard bit P Include Context B P Include Date Of Deah P Space After Section Tales Contex Date of Statement P2/B200 20 Statements 12 Access and a Contex Margine Metodag Body Too 10.5 © 10.55 Location Name P P Sec Context Bit 11 A P P P P Sec Context Bit 11 A P P P P Sec Context Bit 11 A P P P P Sec Context Bit 11 A P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	act # 00-04037 med. Abara, Helen L Jale: 04/15/2000 page: Shaon Male innal Charges & Com Benion Summabe Stionnal Charges & Com at Additional Charges at Additional Charges
den [den 1] anni anni 1	Anul
A Stea B statist CD Day B Law B Freedo	T Poss

Set the Destination to Printer or Preview, set the tray and the number of copies, and click OK.

5.10 A/R Forms

A second tab under Billing is labeled A/R Forms. The same tab appears under at-need and preneed although the available forms differ.

Steel Cody Execution Sale Cody Execution Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody Cody	2
Date Sale Code [Description Amount 03/11/2004 [PV-15] Received Insurance Dama [8150.00] 10/51/2002 [PV-01] Regeneric [81.400.00] 03/11/2002 [PV-01] Regeneric [81.500.00] 03/11/2002 [PV-01] Regeneric [8150.00] 03/11/2002 [PV-01] Regeneric [850.00] 03/12/2004 [PM-13] Due from Local/Veterant/ Claims [850.00]	
02/11/2004 PY-15 Received Insurance Claims (\$150.00) 10/31/2004 PY-15 Received Insurance Claims (\$140.00) 02/11/2004 PY-15 Benered (\$50.00) 03/12/2004 PM-12 Due from Local/Veterant' Claims (\$50.00)	
1015/2000 PV:01 Payment (§1,400.00) 03/11/2004 PV:01 Payment (§50.00) 03/12/2004 PM-13 Due from LocalVeterant' Claims (§50.00)	
03/11/2004 PV 01 Payment (\$50.00) 03/12/2004 PM-13 Due from Local Veterand Claims (\$50.00)	
03/12/2004 PM-12 Due from Local Veterant' Claims (\$50.00)	

Here you may print Insurance Assignments and Contracts (Statements of Goods & Services).

When you first come to this tab, Insurance Assignment will be selected. The assignment form assumes you have entered a transaction in the amount to be assigned. Click on the appropriate transaction from the list and select Preview.

To print a Statement of Goods and Services, select that form from the pull down list.

Goods Services.arform Insurance Assignment.arform

5.11 Write Off

At the top of the Contract Edit screen, you will find a one step Write Off button. Clicking on it first presents a confirmation box.

Warning			×
You are about to write	this contract off a	s a bad debt.	Continue?
	(es <u>N</u>	40	

If you chose to continue, the program will propose the entry of a transaction bringing the balance to zero.

Transaction Edit			
ContractNo Date	Sales Code AD-05	Stock	
Description			Amount
Bad Debt Write Off			(\$2,775.00)
Taxable1 Posted	Item		Vendor
Taxable2			
Contract?			
≦ave	Add Another	X Cance	н

When you save this transaction, the program will also check the Bad Debt box in the contract.

There is also a Write Off button on the A/R find a funeral window which may be used to Write Off a number of cases at one time.

5.12 Post

The Post Button transfers unposted transactions from the selected contract to supported bookkeeping programs. There is also a Post Button that appears on the Find a Funeral Window when you Search By A/R Contracts; this Post Button is for posting all of your contracts at one time. Posting is an optional feature.

5.13 Sales Codes

The Sales Code Button at the top of the Contract Edit Screen allows you to modify the list of Codes.

SS-01 Basic Services of Director & Statt F. Comparison of Director & Statt SS-02 Enclaiming Г SS-03 Restansion Г SS-04 Cometology Г SS-05 Mair Dressing Г SS-06 Special Care of Autopried Remains Г SS-07 Washing and Diankeding Г SS-08 Forwarding to Other Funeral Home Г SS-09 Other Preparation of the Body Г SS-08 Forwarding to Other Funeral Home Г SS-10 Rescripting From Other Funeral Home Г SS-11 Immediate Busids Г	SaleCod	e Description	Tax1	Tax 2	
SS02 Enbahning Г SS403 Restoration Г SS404 Counstology Г SS405 Hair Directing Г SS405 Special Care of Autopried Remains Г SS407 Wahing and Directing Г SS408 Considering to Other Funeral Home Г SS409 Other Preparation of the Body Г SS409 Formading to Other Funeral Home Г SS409 Immediate Bunials Г	SS-01	Basic Services of Director & Staff			
SS-03 Restoration Г Г SS-04 Connetology Г Г SS-05 Hair Diresting Г Г SS-06 Special Care of Autoptied Remains Г Г SS-07 Washing and Disinfecting Г Г SS-08 Other Preparation of the Body Г Г SS-09 Other Preparation of the Body Г Г SS-09 Receiving From Other Funeral Home Г Г SS-10 Receiving From Other Funeral Home Г Г SS-11 Immediate Busids Г Г	\$\$-02	Embalming			
SS-04 Connectology Г Г SS-05 Special Care of Autopried Remains Г Г SS-07 Washing and Disinfecting Г Г SS-08 Other Preparation of the Body Г Г SS-09 Forwarding to Other Funeral Home Г Г SS-09 Forwarding to Other Funeral Home Г Г SS-10 Receiving From Other Funeral Home Г Г SS-11 Immediate Busids Г Г	\$\$-03	Restoration			
SS-05 Hair Dressing Г SS-05 Special Care of Autopried Remains Г SS-07 Washing and Disinfecting Г SS-08 Other Preparation of the Body Г SS-08 Formading to Uther Funeral Home Г SS-10 Receiving From Other Funeral Home Г SS-11 Immediate Bunials Г	\$\$-04	Cosmetology			
SS-06 Special Care of Autopied Renains Г SS-07 Washing and Disinfecting Г SS-08 Other Preparation of the Body Г SS-09 Forwarding to Other Functional Home Г SS-10 Receiving From Other Functal Home Г SS-11 Immediate Busistic Г	\$\$-05	Hair Dressing			
S5-07 Washing and Disinfecting Г S5-08 Other Preparation of the Body Г S5-09 Forwarding to Other Fueral Home Г S5-10 Meeching Form Other Fueral Home Г S5-11 Immediate Busials Г	\$\$-06	Special Care of Autopsied Remains			
S5:00 Other Preparation of the Body Г S5:03 Formading to Other Funeral Home Г S5:10 Receiving From Other Funeral Home Г S5:11 Immediate Burials Г	\$\$-07	Washing and Disinfecting			
SS-08 Forwarding to Other Funeral Home Г SS-10 Receiving From Other Funeral Home Г SS-11 Immediate Burials Г	\$\$-08	Other Preparation of the Body			
SS-10 Receiving From Other Funeral Home	\$\$-09	Forwarding to Other Funeral Home			
SS-11 Immediate Busids	\$\$-10	Receiving From Other Funeral Home			
	\$\$-11	Immediate Burials			
	Restore [Defaults Racin Services of Director & Statt	- T 1 -	-> III	10

You may change the descriptions of the codes to suit your needs. We recommend you limit your changes to changing the wording leaving the basic meaning of each item unchanged.

You may also change the tax checkboxes to reflect the rules of your state. By default, service items have both tax boxes unchecked and merchandise items check Tax 1.

Up and down arrows are provided to allow you to move items up and down in the list. When transactions are added to a contract, they are inserted in the order provided here with Service Items first. Changing the order here changes where they will be inserted into new contracts. The order of existing contracts will not be affected.

5.14 Stock

The Stock Button at the top of the Contract Edit Screen allows you to create Stock Numbers.

Stock List				
	Stock #	Sale Code	Detail	Amount 🔺
	B10001	ME-01	18 guage	\$2,000.00
	Wi10001	ME-02	Wilbert Standard	\$875.00
✓ OK <u>() New</u> () Edt 3 Q Delete				
X Cancel				

When you click on <u>New</u> to add an item, you will be presented with a screen very similar to the transaction edit screen.

Transaction Edit	LOX
Sales Code Stock No B10001	
Description	Amount
Casket as selected	\$2,000.00
	1
	Taxable1
	Taxable2
Detail 18 guage	
Vendor Batesville Casket Company	
Serial No	
🖌 Save 🔀 Add Another 🕺 Cance	4

Stock numbers provide a convenient way to preenter your selections. Most people create stock numbers for their caskets and perhaps their vaults, but numbers can be created for items within any sales code. We recommend the use of stock numbers for all merchandise to facilitate more detailed reporting.

Note that all full four lines of description for each item are provided. The default descriptions provided in the Sales Codes are only one line long. For example, the default description for a casket is "Casket as Selected". If you prefer to present the family with a detailed description of the particular casket they choose, we suggest you enter the longer description into your Stock List.

The Detail field is where you put the description you use for the item internally. The above example shows "18 guage" in the detail field and "casket as selected" in the description field. You might have noticed that "18 guage" also appeared in the list of Stock Items which appeared earlier in this help item. Use the Detail field to help you identify the item to your staff and the long description field to identify the item for the family. The Detail field is used for reports while the Description field is used in billing.

5.15 Transfer Preneed to At-Need

To transfer a Preneed Contract to At-Need, click on the Xfer P/N Button at the top of the Contract List.

New	<u>S</u> td Service	📇 Billing	Sales Codes
E dit	Interest	<u>₩</u> rite Off	Stock
Delete	Post	∐fer P/N	Untransfer

You may perform this operation in P/N PRO and push the Contract over to A/R PRO, or you may perform the operation in A/R PRO pulling the Contract over from P/N PRO. There is also an Untransfer Button which will reverse the operation in case you transfer a contract by mistake.

When you transfer a Contract, you may change the Funeral Number if desired.



5.16 Letters

Letters may be printed from many places in the program. A Letters Button appears in the Address Book so that you can send a letter to anyone you have dealt with. Letters may also be sent to the Payors in a Contract. Pressing any Letters Button leads to:

<u>O</u> pen Oose	Save New	<u>P</u> iint <u>M</u> ake	Envelope	Date Format	10	Director Name Funeral Home Include Address

Click on Open to bring up the list of stored Letters.

Open			(in the second s		? ×
Look jn: 🕞	Data	¥	Ē 🗹	<u> </u>	
sample.ltr					
scitr1.ltr					- 1
scitt2.tr					- 1
🗯 scilt/4.ltr					- 1
					- 1
					- 1
File name:				Oper	1
Files of type:	Letters		*	Cano	el

We suggest you start by looking at sample. It although you will eventually want to look at the other letters which are designed for use in billing, too. When you open sample. It, you will return to the previous window.

<u>Open</u> Open	Save New	<u>Pint</u> Make	Envelope	Date Format		Director Name Funesal Home Include Address
<date></date>						
<address⊃ Ladies and</address⊃ 	, Gentlemer	£				
Replace th Gentlemen program w address of Funeral Ho right. Righ fonts and n Save and g	is paragrap " and "Sino ill replace " the person me Name t clicking o nargins. If jive your let	h with the to cerely," if yo (Date> with you are wr and Address n this letter you want to tter a new n	ent of your u prefer of a today's d ting, and < s dependir will produc use the let ame before	letter. You her words. ' ate, <addres Closing> wi ug upon what e a menu that ter more that e you click or</addres 	may edit When yo is> with th the Di i you hav it will all n once, i n Make.	"Lackes and ou click on Make, the the name and rector's Name and/or yee checked at the top ow you to change remember to click on
Sincerely,						

As you can see, sample.ltr contains a basic letter format with instructions in the place of the body. Erase the body of the letter and replace it with your desired text. You may also change the formatting by clicking on the letter with your right hand mouse button to bring up a menu.

<u>E</u> dit
Cu <u>t</u> Copy <u>P</u> aste
<u>F</u> ont <u>B</u> ullet Style P <u>a</u> ragraph <u>T</u> abs
Fin <u>d</u> <u>R</u> eplace
Insert <u>O</u> bject

Chosing <u>E</u>dit from this menu will bring up an alternate editing screen with a toolbar. Choosing <u>F</u>ont will let you change the font. <u>B</u>ullet Style will format a list of items. Paragraph will adjust margins and indentations. <u>T</u>abs sets tabs.

As you see, sample.ltr includes structural items in brackets like <Date>. These are Tags. When you click on <u>Make these tags will be replaced with data</u>. <Date> becomes today's date. <Address> becomes the name and address of the person to whom the letter is being sent. Closing becomes the name of the person signing the letter. You may change the font to be used for the data by changing the font on the Tag. You may also move the tag. For example, if you want the date to be centered or right justified, you would highlight the tag, right click to bring up the menu, and then choose Paragraph. Use the drop down list and the check boxes at the upper right of the screen to format the <Date> and <Closing>, respectively.

<u>O</u> pen	Save	Bint	Envelope Date Format Director Name
Close	New	Make	Include Address

When the letter is to your satisfaction click on <u>Save</u>. Always save before using <u>Make</u> so that your Tags and not the instance data are saved.

Save As	t in s	1910-1920.		8 1 44	11		ð 11	? X
Save jn: 🕞	Data		 • @		1	٣		-11
ample.ltr								_
scitr2.hr								
scitr3.hr scitr4.hr								
File name:	sample				1		Save	-
Save as type:	Letters				1		Cance	el

If you were to just click save at this point, you would overwrite the sample letter and lose the instructions. Also, when you next updated your program, your letter would be overwritten with our sample letter. So, change the name to something appropriate before saving.

<u>New clears the screen so that you may type a fresh letter</u>. <u>Close does not close the current letter</u>; it closes the entire letter writing process taking you back to the prior screen.

Print brings up the Windows printer dialog.

Print			?)
Printer			
Name:	HP DeskJet 6600		Properties
Status:	Default printer; Ready		
Type:	HP DeskJet 660C		
Where:	LPT1:		
Commen	t		
Print rang	e	Copies	
(AI		Number of co	wies 1 =
~		-	
C Rage	s from [0:		Collate
O Selet	tion	-تابن	
		OK	Cancel

Envelope leads to a dialog

Envelopes & Labels	
F Include Return Address	Include Address
Upper 2	Upper 🔃 🚊
Left 3	Left 0 🗮
Print <u>E</u> nvelope	👖 Close

where you may position the addresses before printing.

5.17 At-need Reports

59

At-need reports are printing by clicking on the Report Button on A/R PRO's Find a Funeral Screen.

Accounts Receivable	Feel Alf uneral					HIG N
iter name to part of name to	search for	Economition b 2001-0001	Date of Sale Decessed Name 62/05/2002 Code, Frank	Current Baterice 0 13,950,00	tigral Darge Last F	animi Dal A
Inent by Decemp Kame Free Khade One fami One fami One fami P Const P C	ist Operation Contract No Contract No Contract No Person Normath Performant Ball Denis Ball Denis Ball Denis Ball Denis Ball Denis Ball Denis Ball Denis Denis Denis Denis Denis		10/07/202 Look fram	1.000	1.201	

Doing so produces the Report Menu.

Accounts Receivable &	Sales Reports		610 X
VR Reports Sales Reports			
Dates Fise: Te: 06/19/2002	Summary 0.5 Activity 0.5	illeet Y.Oltreet State Y.Oltreet State Y.Oltreet State State St	
Sot Options Contract No Contract No Person Name Colector Cocetion	Billing Payor Envelope		
Balances G Al C Bad Debis C Unposted Only			

A/R Reports provide information about who owes you money on a specified date. Sales Reports provide information about how much business you did in a certain time period.

6 P/N PRO

6.1 Overview

P/N PRO is for preneed. This is where you enter the financial information for your preneeds, and print bills, statements, and financial reports.

When you chose P/N Pro from the Main Menu, you will be taken to the Find a Funeral Window.

While a person may only have one Funeral, they may have more than one P/N Contract. They might have multiple prearrangements made at different times.

The process of creating the Funeral is the same in each module. However, when you open the Funeral in P/N PRO, you will be brought to a screen which lists all of the Contracts for that deceased.

Conserve Two Date at Same Two Conserve Two Date at Same Two Conserve Two	
Sant By Set Option Powenset Name P Contact B Powenset Name P Option 1 Set Powenset Name P Option 1 Set P Mit Option P Provide Name P Mit Option P Provide Name P Mit Option P Provide Name P Provide Name P Provide Name P Densit Option P Name Name	ed.knowl -
Seat By Decease Varies Constant B Constant B Const	
Forest Notes Proceeds Context II Context II Context II Context II Context III Context IIIIIII Context IIIII Context Context IIII Context	
Clar of See C Outro of See ARC Densel C Reconstitute Price Creation C Reconstitute Open P Sectors Open P Sectors Open D Sector Open D Sectors Open P Sectors Open P Sectors Open P Sectors Open P Sectors	
AR Control Procession P	
Stars Mach Accords P Petto Stars P Intractor	
V Dem D Factor D Same D Same D Same D Same D Same D Same D Same D Same	
Argener petrem ≧ Beener The Dener	
7 too	

Notice that in the above illustration Search By has been changed from Deceased Name to P/N Contract. You may chose how to Search by clicking on your selection. Searching By P/N Contract reveals information and choices that are specific to the A/R module.

6.2 Creating, Editing, or Deleting a Contract

To create a New Contract, click the New Button at the top of the Contract List Window

New	Std Service	<u>B</u> illing	Sales Codes
Edit	Interest	<u>₩</u> rite Off	Stock
Delete	Post	∐fer P/N	Untransfer

to bring up the New/Edit Contract Window.

Preneed Contract	
Contract	
Contract No Date of Sale Deceased Name 03/19/2002 Borsholf, Myra Jean	i
Director Location	
Funding Type Taxability Status	
Unhunded Tax Client Active	
Contract Total Funded Amount Unfunded Amount Last Payment Date Final Paymen	nt Date
Save Save	

The funeral number will be supplied as the contract number but you can change it. If you didn't assign a funeral number, you will need to insert a contract number.

Enter the funeral director, the funeral home location, funding type, taxability, and status; and then correct the Dale of Sale, if necessary, and press <u>S</u>ave.

The Date of Sale is the date that will appear on the Statement of Goods and Services Selected. Transactions on the Original Charges tab will carry this date unless you change it.

The funeral director and the funeral home location are Places to be selected from your Address Book. Funding type, taxability, and status are selected from Lists.

If you need to Edit a Contract you have already created, highlight your contract and click on the Edit Button at the top of the List Window to bring back the New/Edit Window. You will always want to Edit your Contracts if the funding type is other than unfunded as additional fields appear with a preneed contract after you have specified trust or insurance funding.

Preneed Contrac		2 N	
Contract Trust Detail	•		
Contact			
Instrument			
Account No.	TaviD	-	
Certificate No	Beceint	-	
Bedevation			
Internal	F Revocab	ble	
menter I	-		
	√ Sava X C	ancel	
2			
E Present Contrac	•		
Preneed Contrac	t Detais		
Preneed Contrac Contract Insurance D	t Detail:		
Preneed Contrac Contract Insurance D	k Agert Name	Sale Location	
Preneed Contrac Contract Insurance D	k Agent Name	Sale Location	
R: Preneed Contrac Contract Insurance D	k Detalo Agent Name	Sale Location	
Prensed Contract Contract Insurance D Policy Number	K Agent Name	Sale Location	
Policy Number	K Agent Name Premium	Sale Location	
Policy Number	k Agent Name Premium Face Value	Sale Location	
Policy Number	t Agent Name Premium Face Value Interest	Sale Location Cycle Discount Rebate	
Policy Number	t Agent Name Premium Face Value Interest Coopyright Rate	Sale Location Cycle Discourt Rebate	
Percent Contract Contract Insurance D Policy Number Plan Name Commission Rate Commission Rate	t Agent Name Premium Face Value Interest Counselor Rate Counselor Rate	Sale Location Cycle Discourt Rebate	
Policy Number Policy Number Plan Name Commission Rate Commission Rate Commission Rate Commission Rate Commission Rate	Agent Name Agent Name Premium Face Value Interest Counselor Paie Counselor Paie Counselor Paie	Sale Location Cycle Discount Rebate d	
Policy Number Contract Policy Number Plan Name Commission Rate Commission Paid Commission Qued	Agent Name Agent Name Premium Face Value Interest Counselor Rate Counselor Rate Counselor Rate Counselor Owed	Sale Location Cycle Discount Rebate d d	
Percent Contract Contract Insurance D Policy Number Plan Name Plan Name Commission Rate Commission Paid Commission Owed	Agent Name Premium Premium Premium Pace Value Interest Counselor Rate Counselor R	Sale Location Cycle Discount Rebate d d d	

You Delete a Contract by highlighting it and clicking on the Delete Button at the top of the List Window.

6.3 Standard Services

We highly recommend entering Standard Services as soon as possible. Each Standard Service is a list of items that may be copied into a contract. Standard Services are entered by selecting <u>Std</u> Services from the Find a Funeral Screen in A/R PRO or P/N PRO. The same Standard Services are available for you use in both at-need and preneed contracts.



Selecting this option brings up the Standard Services Editor.

Standard Canton is 1 dd			New Service.	
Service Name Connection P Traditional	Total Design() and Updated (Overland) 91 200 10 02/05/2002 \$11,000 10 02/05/2002 91,000 10 02/05/2002	Director = Director Ectr	Setteries States	Selex Codes Stock Universite
Dom Left Code Templation P 000500000 54-01 Beam Save 000050000 56-01 Beam Save 000050000 56-00 Code Save 000050000 56-00 Code are and are and are and are are are and are		ew Item In cted Service.		Sen Ex Delete Al Colore Al Colore Al Colore Al
	10000	9 Heb 1 Dove		

The Editor looks very much like the Contract List although some buttons have been disabled. To enter a Standard Service click on New.

home -					
inginal Charge	Most Recent Pa	yment	Current Balance	Final Payment Date	
Billing Type	0	Tax St Tax Rat	#0 <u>2</u> e1	Emblaming	
Accrue Intere	The second secon	Tax Har Tax Exempl Tax (e 2 ion iap	Reason For Require	d Purchases

Enter a Service Name and Click on <u>Save</u>. Typical names for Standard Services are Traditional, Cremation, Graveside, Catholic, and Ship-Out. Any combination of items that you typically offer as a group is a candidate for a Standard Service. You should ignore the interest, sales tax, and disclosure fields as the program does not take this information from Standard Services. 63

Use the New Button at the right to add transactions to your service.

Notice that the Standard Services page has a Standard Services button at the top of it. You may use this feature to copy one Standard Service into another one.

6.4 Creating, Editing, or Deleting Transactions

Once you have created a Contract or a Standard Service, you can add transactions to it.

Present	Contracts & Transactions (Cdl.				_	HØ 2
	Borshoff, A	lyra Jean			P2	002-0001
Contraction B	in (Date of Sale) Contract Total Tanded Annaer(Uniter	tel Annuel (and Annuel An a 	New 2 Esk Desete	Mirvie Prov	A SANS SAMOT SAMOT	Sales Codes Stock Unitarulier
Data	See Cod Province	Anourt	On Contract			Sim Lik Quine Dome.td Sim:Lw + +
		Ser 784 []	Quee	_		

Using Standard Services greatly simplifies the process or adding transactions. If you have created Standard Services, just click on the Standard Services Button at the top of the Accounts Receivable Edit Screen and a list of your Services will appear.

3	Select A Standard	Service			
Π	Service Name		Total Charges	Service No	la.≜
	Graveside		\$1,950.00	Std10	12
	Traditional		\$2,775.00	Std6	12
		✓ 0 <u>K</u>	X Cancel		

Select the Service name that is most appropriate and click $O\underline{K}$ and all of the transactions from that Standard Service will be copied into your Contract or Service. Yes, you can copy one Standard Service into another one or copy more than one Standard Service into a single Contract.

	-				7.1
Date	Sale Code	Devolption	Anouri	On CarReck	- 5
12/05/2002	\$5-01	Basic Services of Director & Staff	\$1,500.00	True	100
82/05/2002	55-82	Enbalang	\$150.00	Titue	
12/05/2002	15-08	Other Preparation of the Body	\$200.00	1 True	Del
12/05/2002	HE41	Carket as selected		True	1000
					1996
					11 H
					11 H

Notice that this Standard Service included a transaction for a Casket without a price. Including items without prices in your Standard Services simplifies completing the actual contract. Select the Casket Item and click on the Edit button to the right of the transactions to bring up the screen to edit this transaction.

📓 Transaction Edit	
ContractNo Date Sales Code Stock 2001-0001 12/17/2001 ME-01 I	No
Description Casket as selected	Amount
	-
Detail	Taxable2
Vendor	Posted
Save 🔀 Add Another 🗶 🕻	ancel

Fill in the price or better yet enter a Stock Number and click on <u>Save or Add Another</u>. Either button will add the revised item to the list. <u>Add</u> Another clears the Edit Window so you can create more transactions while <u>Save</u> takes you back to the transaction list.

Clicking on the New Button to the right of the transaction list opens the same Transaction Window we just discussed. When we saw this window before the Sales Code (ME-01) had been filled in from the Standard Service, but when you enter a new transaction you will begin by specifying this code. In a new contract the first charge is normally of type SS-01, the Basic Services of Director and Staff. SS indicates Services Staff. The casket charge was an ME or Merchandise Item. Other types are SU (Services - Use of Facilities), SA (Services - Auto), SP (Services - Package), CA (Cash Advances), etc.

Stock provides a short cut for filling in all the other fields for this item. Click on the three dots to bring up the stock list for items matching the specified Sales Code.

Two taxable checkboxes are provided. Your State may not charge Sales Tax in which case you may ignore these checkboxes. If your State taxes some items and not others, check the Taxable1 box on the items subject to tax. Some States have more complicated tax rules which bring both checkboxes into use. By default Taxable 1 is checked for Merchandise items; you may change the default conditions of the Tax checkboxes by modifying the Sales Codes.

The Posted checkbox indicates whether the transaction has been sent to an integrated bookkeeping program. It is not normally necessary to check or uncheck this box manually.

Funding transactions go on that tab sheet. This is where you would enter deposits to trusts. While deposits may be added within the contract just as any other item, they may also be added using the

65 The Professional Programs from ACS

Payments Button that appears on the Find A Funeral Window when Search By is set to P/N Contracts.

Separate Buttons are provided to <u>D</u>elete and to Delete All. The first button deletes only the selected transaction which Delete All deletes all of the items in a single step.

The red arrows pointing up and down allow you to change the order of the transactions. Select a transaction and click on the up arrow to move it higher in the list or the down arrow to move it lower.

When you have entered all of your contract items, you add Sales Tax by clicking on the Sales Tax button at the top of the screen. This will add tax using the rates entered into the contract taking into account the checkboxes in the individual items. Interest transactions are also added using a button at the top of the screen.

6.5 Purchasers

Purchasers are entered within the preneed contract.

Funeral Dranges Funding Transactione Purchase	m(s) Funeral Detail	
Saartitiana a	Addess New Ca	
	Envelope	
11 J		

A contract may have more than one purchaser.

6.6 Funeral Detail

A fourth tab in the transaction area is labeled Funeral Detail. The same information appears in at-need and preneed contracts although the other tabs are labeled slightly differently depending up which module you are using.

e & Dedis Payods Furnal Detail
fine
I show here
2
J Notes

This tab provides access to some fields that are normally entered in LedgerPRO. These fields are used in reports. They may be accessed here if you find that more convenient or you do not own LedgerPRO.

6.7 Sales Tax

To add Sales Tax, click the Sales Tax button on the right hand side of the Original Charges tab sheet.

Date	Sale Code	Devolption	Anourt		
12/05/200	2 55-01	Basic Services of Director & Staff	\$1,500.00		
62/05/200	5542	Enbalming	\$150.00		-
\$2,05/200	2.55-08	Other Preparation of the Body	\$200.00	Dek	da 👘
12/05/200	2 ME-01	Casket as selected	\$2,000,00		_
\$2,05,700	those	State Sales Tax	\$100.00	Delet	1.14
				141	141
				×	¥

The rules for calculating Sales Tax are determined by the Contract and the individual items. The tax rates are specified in the Contract.

Contact No Date of Sale Decessed Name Fuened No Date of Death 2006-001 (0x01/x2006 w) Cools, Farsk M w) (0x02/x006 w) Displication Food Pagement Date Endoating Displication Sales Tac Info Needs Posing Memoral Nace Sales Tac Info Nace A Posing Memoral Nace Sales Tac Info Nace A Posing Mark 1 500 Sales Tac Info Nace A Posing Date Of Regulated Face Rate 1 500 End at Gaces Front Regulated Face Bal Date Compound Interest Cools Compound Netword Cools	Terms & Cond	hons	_				. 80
Digital Charge Mod Racert Payment Sales Sa	Contract No 2006-001 Director	Date of Sale Dr (001/2006 💌 🛛	Constant Na Cocili, Frank Loc	me M ation	in and and and and and and and and and an	Funeral No (2006-001 IP' Autonumbe Emboltning	Date of Death 01/01/2006
Billing Type Safet T ac Info Needs Posting Rescan F or Required Puchases Safet T ac Info Safet T ac Info Wate Prevent Wate Prevent Days Grace 30 Rate 1 500 Bad Date Rate 1 Crid of Graces (Crit/COD6) Rate 2 200 Rate 2 Compound Interest Terms Carepound Interest Carepound Interest 50.00 Compound Interest Carepound Interest	Driginal Charge \$0.00	Most Recent Pape	nent \$0.00	Current Balance \$0.00	Final Payment Date		
	Billing Type Annual Annual Days Grace 30 Days Grace 30 End of Grace 30 Accuse Intern Compound In	38.00 31.000 × 31.000 × st From Grace terret	Saleo State Rate 1 Rate 2 Exemption Cap	Tax Info 300 200 30.00 30.00 30.00	✓ Needs Pooling ✓ Was Prevend ✓ Bad Debt	Resson For Re	guied Purchanse

The Tax State is the two letter abbreviation for the State whose tax rules apply to this contract. Tax Rate 1 is the rate which will be applied to Items which have Taxable 1 checked. Tax Rate 2 will be applied to Items with Taxable 2 checked. Exemption and Cap are only needed in a few states so if these terms are unfamilar, you probably should skip these fields.

The following screen shows a merchandise item with Taxable 1 checked.

Transaction Edit	
ContractNo Date Sales Code Stock No 2001-0001 12/17/2007 Y ME-01 Y	
Description	Amount
Casket as selected	
,	Taxable1
	Taxable2
Detail	Con Contract?
Vendor	Posted
Serial No	
Save Canc	el

By default Taxable 1 is checked for Merchandise items; you may change the default conditions of the Tax checkboxes by modifying the Sales Codes.

6.8 Billing

67

Two different buttons lead to billing. If you want to bill a single case, you would use the Billing Button at the top of the Contract Screen.



If you want to bill a batch of cases, you would first click on Report from the A/R PRO or P/N PRO Find a Funeral Screen.



Then you would use the screen that appears to identify the batch,



and then click on Billing. This brings up the same screen that appears when you select billing from the Contract Screen.
Type of Bill Statement - Standard	dol Contact II
	Lore item Pape Pape Additional Charges 5 Cedits Congrinal Charges Summatre Summa

Several predefined Billing Formats are provided. Use the Type of Bill Field to select one.

🖻 Memorandum - Cash Advance Breakout.bill 👘	
🖻 Memorandum - Right Justified.bill	
🖻 Memorandum - Standard.bill	
🖻 Statement - Standard.bill	

Memorandums print the transactions from the Original Contract while Statement include the Additional Charges and Credits. We suggest you begin by printing out each of the predefined formats to see which you like best. As you do so, you will see that selecting a Type of Bill fills in the various fields in the Billing Screen.

Below the margins fields, you will find a section headed Location Name. In our formats None has been selected which would be appropriate if you are printing on your letterhead. Of course, you may have to adjust the top margin to bring the printing down below your pre-printed heading. If you wish to print your bills on plain paper, you can change this field to print your main office name and address or the name and address of the particular location which handled this service. Clicking on the triple dots will allow you to change the fonts.

Memorandums & Statements
Statements & Memorandia A/R Forme Letters
Type of Bill [Hemonandum - Standard bill
Product Contact # IP Include Day You may choose to have your name Heading Biol And address print at
Les 05 © 05 the top in a font of your choice.
Nove
Message Fort

A message area is in the lower left hand corner. Several special key words are available for your use in messages. <date> will be replaced with the current date. <sold> will become the contract date. <grace> will become the date interest begins. <due> will become the current balance. <apr> will become the interest rate.

After you have selected a format (or formats) that you will use, you may change the fields and <u>Save</u> them or use Save As to give your own name to the modified format. For example, you might choose to use Save As to create a series of statements with messages of increasing severity to use as the case becomes older.

With the format selected, click on <u>Print</u> to bring up the Printer Dialog.

Set the Destination to Printer or Preview, set the tray and the number of copies, and click OK.

6.9 P/N Forms

A second tab under Billing is labeled A/R Forms. The same tab appears under at-need and preneed although the available forms differ.

Statements & Menoranda Arth Form Document Statement & Menoranda Arth Form Provide a torum on the tight For Assignment forms and Receipts, documents, the Insurance Company and evel come to the the social of the StateSchement and Determine will be taken from the third Determine will be taken from the third Date Sale Code Description Amount	
Choose a tom on the right. For Assignment forms and Receipting, choose a transaction below. Then presi Selectif's preview the torm. For Insurances Assignment, the Insurance Company name will come the the social date of the transaction desception. The policy number will be taken from the third C. All Transactions: Preview C. All Transactions: Preview C. All Transactions: Preview	×
Date Sale Code Description Amount	
	*
D0111/2001 PV-15 Received Insurance Class (#150.00) 10121/2001 PV-01 Pagenet (#1.40.00) 00111/2002 PV-01 Pagenet (#50.00) 00111/2004 PV-01 Pagenet (#50.00)	3
la la compañía de la	-

Here you may print Insurance Assignments and Contracts (Statements of Goods & Services).

When you first come to this tab, Insurance Assignment will be selected. The assignment form assumes you have entered a transaction in the amount to be assigned. Click on the appropriate transaction from the list and select Preview.

To print a Statement of Goods and Services, select that form from the pull down list.

Goods_Services.arform Insurance Assignment.arform

6.10 Sales Codes

The Sales Code Button at the top of the Contract Edit Screen allows you to modify the list of Codes.

SaleCode	Description	Tax1 Tax2	1
SS-01	Basic Services of Director & Staff		1
SS-02	Embalming		
\$\$-03	Restoration		
\$\$-04	Cosmetology		
\$\$-05	Hair Dressing		
\$\$-06	Special Care of Autopsied Remains		
\$\$-07	Washing and Disinfecting		
\$\$-08	Other Preparation of the Body		
\$\$-09	Forwarding to Other Funeral Home		
\$\$-10	Receiving From Other Funeral Home		
\$\$-11	Immediate Burials		
	-		
		1.1	1
	Description	Tax1 🔳	J
Desition D	And Devis Consistent Constant Const		1

You may change the descriptions of the codes to suit your needs. We recommend you limit your changes to changing the wording leaving the basic meaning of each item unchanged.

You may also change the tax checkboxes to reflect the rules of your state. By default, service items have both tax boxes unchecked and merchandise items check Tax 1.

Up and down arrows are provided to allow you to move items up and down in the list. When transactions are added to a contract, they are inserted in the order provided here with Service Items first. Changing the order here changes where they will be inserted into new contracts. The order of existing contracts will not be affected.

6.11 Stock

The Stock Button at the top of the Contract Edit Screen allows you to create Stock Numbers.

Stock List				
	Stock #	Sale Code	Detail	Amount 🔺
L 2	B10001	ME-01	18 guage	\$2,000.00
	Wi10001	ME-02	Wilbert Standard	\$875.00
✓ OK C: New C: New S: Eds S: Delete				
X Cancel				×

When you click on <u>New</u> to add an item, you will be presented with a screen very similar to the transaction edit screen.

Transaction Edit	
Sales Code Stock No B10001	
Description	Amount
Casket as selected	\$2,000.00
	🔽 Taxable1
	Taxable2
Detail 18 guage	
Vendor Batesville Casket Company	
Serial No	
Save 🔀 Add Another 🗶 Cance	1

Stock numbers provide a convenient way to preenter your selections. Most people create stock numbers for their caskets and perhaps their vaults, but numbers can be created for items within any sales code. We recommend the use of stock numbers for all merchandise to facilitate more detailed reporting.

Note that all full four lines of description for each item are provided. The default descriptions provided in the Sales Codes are only one line long. For example, the default description for a casket is "Casket as Selected". If you prefer to present the family with a detailed description of the particular casket they choose, we suggest you enter the longer description into your Stock List.

The Detail field is where you put the description you use for the item internally. The above example shows "18 guage" in the detail field and "casket as selected" in the description field. You might have noticed that "18 guage" also appeared in the list of Stock Items which appeared earlier in this help item. Use the Detail field to help you identify the item to your staff and the long description field to identify the item for the family. The Detail field is used for reports while the Description field is used in billing.

6.12 Transfer Preneed to At-Need

To transfer a Preneed Contract to At-Need, click on the Xfer P/N Button at the top of the Contract List.

New	<u>S</u> td Service	Billing	Sales Codes
Edit	Interest	<u>₩</u> rite Off	Stock
Delete	Post	∐fer P/N	Untransfer

You may perform this operation in P/N PRO and push the Contract over to A/R PRO, or you may perform the operation in A/R PRO pulling the Contract over from P/N PRO. There is also an Untransfer Button which will reverse the operation in case you transfer a contract by mistake.

When you transfer a Contract, you may change the Funeral Number if desired.



6.13 Letters

Letters may be printed from many places in the program. A Letters Button appears in the Address Book so that you can send a letter to anyone you have dealt with. Letters may also be sent to the Payors in a Contract. Pressing any Letters Button leads to:

<u>O</u> pen <u>O</u> ose	Save New	<u>P</u> rint <u>M</u> ake	Envelope	Date Format	4 4	Director Name Funeral Home Include Address

Click on <u>Open to bring up the list of stored Letters</u>.

Open				H. 111		2	×
Look jn: 🕞	Data		• E	2	ď		
sample.ltr							-
titicas 🛤							- 1
scitt2.ltr							
scitt4.ltr							
_							1
							1
File name:				-1		Open	1
				-			1
Files of type:	Letters	 		-	1	Jancel	

We suggest you start by looking at sample. It although you will eventually want to look at the other letters which are designed for use in billing, too. When you open sample. It, you will return to the previous window.

<date> <address> Ladies and Gentlem Replace this paragra Gentlemen." and "Sa program will replace address of the perso Foureral Home Nam right. Right clicking fonts and margins. I Save and give your l</address></date>	WC			
<address> Ladies and Gentlem Replace this paragra Gentlemen." and "Sa program will replace address of the perso Foureral Home Nam right. Right clicking fonts and margins. I Save and give your l</address>	1 1.			
Replace this paragra Gentlemen" and "Sa program will replace address of the perso Funeral Home Nam right. Right clicking fonts and margins. I Save and give your l				
	ph with th icerely," if <date> v n you are e and Add on this lett f you want etter a nev</date>	e text of yo you prefer with today's writing, an ress deper er will pro- t to use the w name bel	ur letter. You r other words. V date, <addres d <closing> with ding upon what face a menu that letter more that fore you click or</closing></addres 	nay edit "Ladies and When you click on Make, the s> with the name and h the Director's Name and/or you have checked at the top t will allow you to change o nce, remember to click on h Make.
Sincerely,				

As you can see, sample.ltr contains a basic letter format with instructions in the place of the body. Erase the body of the letter and replace it with your desired text. You may also change the formatting by clicking on the letter with your right hand mouse button to bring up a menu.

<u>E</u> dit
Cu <u>t</u> Copy <u>P</u> aste
<u>F</u> ont <u>B</u> ullet Style P <u>a</u> ragraph <u>T</u> abs
Fin <u>d</u> <u>R</u> eplace
Insert <u>O</u> bject

Chosing <u>E</u>dit from this menu will bring up an alternate editing screen with a toolbar. Choosing <u>F</u>ont will let you change the font. <u>B</u>ullet Style will format a list of items. Paragraph will adjust margins and indentations. <u>T</u>abs sets tabs.

As you see, sample.ltr includes structural items in brackets like <Date>. These are Tags. When you click on <u>Make these tags will be replaced with data</u>. <Date> becomes today's date. <Address> becomes the name and address of the person to whom the letter is being sent. Closing becomes the name of the person signing the letter. You may change the font to be used for the data by changing the font on the Tag. You may also move the tag. For example, if you want the date to be centered or right justified, you would highlight the tag, right click to bring up the menu, and then choose Paragraph. Use the drop down list and the check boxes at the upper right of the screen to format the <Date> and <Closing>, respectively.

<u>O</u> pen	Save	Bint	Envelope Date Format Director Name
Close	New	Make	Include Address

When the letter is to your satisfaction click on <u>Save</u>. Always save before using <u>Make</u> so that your Tags and not the instance data are saved.

Save As	1112888	SSE LANG		1		2
Save jn: 🕞	Data		• E	0	Ċ	
sample.ltr						
scitr2.kr						
scitr3.hr						
ļ						
File name:	sample					Save
Save as type:	Letters			•		Cancel

If you were to just click save at this point, you would overwrite the sample letter and lose the instructions. Also, when you next updated your program, your letter would be overwritten with our sample letter. So, change the name to something appropriate before saving.

<u>New clears the screen so that you may type a fresh letter</u>. <u>Close does not close the current letter</u>; it closes the entire letter writing process taking you back to the prior screen.

Print brings up the Windows printer dialog.

Print			?)
Printer			
Name:	HP DeskJet 6600		Properties
Status:	Default printer; Ready		
Type:	HP DeskJet 660C		
Where:	LPT1:		
Commen	t		
Print rang	e	Copies	
(AI		Number of co	wies 1 =
~		-	
C Rage	s from [0:		Collate
O Selet	tion	-تابن	
		OK	Cancel

Envelope leads to a dialog

Envelopes & Labels	
F Include Return Address	Include Address
Upper 2	Upper 🔃 🚊
Left 3	Left 0 🗮
Print <u>E</u> nvelope	👖 Close

where you may position the addresses before printing.

6.14 Preneed Reports

75

Preneed reports are printing by clicking on the Report Button on P/N PRO's Find a Funeral Screen.



Doing so produces the Report Menu.

States of Funding & Sales Rep.					
Consecution of a solution in the solution of the solution	John Fem ■ Fem ■ Fe 12/13/2005 ■ Fordig 4 ■ Set Option F* Contaction F* Contaction F* Contaction F* Set of Set	000000000 2000-1000 € 2000-0000	04-01-2006 04-01-2006	Name Code, Park M Parked, Led	
Jamap Asiah Jamap Asiah Jama Dom	Fast 51 Tap Hage Lat Heigh Right Hage (2.57 S) (2.57 S) (2.57 S)				تع.

Funding Reports provide information about the funding transactions from the cases you prearranged. For example, a report of this type might show amounts deposited to trust accounts.

Sales Reports provide information about the selections from the cases you prearranged in a certain

time period. The Sales Reports show the same kind of information you are used to seeing on an At-Need Sales Report such as casket sales.

7 PrintPRO

7.1 Overview

PrintPRO prepares memorial folders, prayer cards, acknowledgement cards, and register books. PrintPRO looks and works like LedgerPRO up until the point of printing when a different set of selections is presented.

When you chose PrintPro from the Main Menu, you will be taken to the Find a Funeral Window.

7.2 Personal Tab

The Personal Tab has 3 sub-tabs in PrintPRO and 4 in LedgerPRO.

🔚 Prei Pelenanal 🛙 di		8618
Mohle Espe		-7
01/01/2002	Cook, Frank	2.00
Personal Service Disposition Re-	and [hour parage] You may need to	
Reiderce Buts Spose	Maximize the Window.	\mathcal{I}
	Facilities	
	Decessed Cock, Furth M.	
	Address Cost Notes	
	26 20 (
	Decadersh Place of Vicente	
C Lettered		

When you first click on the Personal Tab, the Residence sub-tab will be displayed. The address information is displayed for your convenience; but you can not edit these fields. If you wish to change the deceased's residence information, you must click on the ellipsis to the right of the name field to bring up the Address Book.

Clicking on the Birth sub-tab displays information about the deceased's birth.

09/04/2000	Cook, Frank M.
Personal Service	Disposition Relative Picture Printing
Residence Bith	Source
	Bon Date 003/04/1942 Age 50 Ym 0 Mon 0 Days Hrs. Mins. Father City & State Date 00/04/2000 City & State

The dates of birth and death are displayed from the Address Book and the Age is automatically calculated for you from those dates.

Clicking on the ellipsis to the right of Father or Mother will open the Address Book.

Type in the City & State for Birth and Death. As you begin to type, the program will look for the letters in the List of cities. You can also click on the arrow symbol without typing to go directly to the list.

The third sub-tab is Spouse.

Ledger Protess	onal: Edit	14-		x IDI x
Module Eage				
09/04/2000	Cook	, Frank M.		
First Call Personal	Medical Service Disposi	tion Veteran Relative	Picture Printing	
Residence Bith	Name Name Place of Maniage C			
	✓ Sove 🗙	Cancel ? Help	Qose	

The name of the spouse is not actually entered here but it is displayed here for your convenience. The name is entered on the Relatives Tab using Husband or Wife as the Relationship. Here you may type in the Place and Date of Marriage if these are relevant to the documents you wish to print.

LedgerPRO adds a Misc sub-tab with additional fields that are relevant to government forms.

09/04/2000 Cook, Frank M. Pert Call Personal Medical Service Deposition Veteran Betakes Picture Printing Residence Beth Spoure Mice Demographics Education Hispanic Demographics Education Hispanic Clicenchip Hispanic Hispanic	Lodge Professioniti Edit Module Page			_0_×
PercCall Percond Medical Service Disposition Veteran Relative Pickare Printing Residence Eth Spoure Minc Image: Spoure Employment Demographics Education Image: Spoure Image: Spoure Image: Spoure Digin Origin Cocupation Employment Maital Statur Image: Spoure Image: Spoure Citizenship Image: Spoure Image: Spoure	09/04/2000	Cook, F	rank M.	
	Finit Call Personal Medical Residence Birth. Spoure Demographics Education Digin Race Marital Status Citizenship	evice Disposition Net	ean Balative Picture Printing Employment Industry Occupation Employee Hove Many Yean?	

7.3 Service Tab

Clicking on the Service Tab displays:

N Print Professional: Edit		<u> </u>			10×
09/04/2000	Cook,	Frank N	M.		
Personal Service Disposition Re	elative Picture F	hinting			
Funeral Home	Votation Info Diate	Time 1200 AM	Service Info	Time 1200 AM	
- I III	Notes		Place	3	V Notes
Cergy Name	-	Musician		Role	-
	-				z
Add Edt Delete	✓ Notes	Add	Edt	Delete	🖌 Notes
🖓 Leit Edge Adi,	Save X	Canvel 7 H	w. [@ c		

The Funeral Home will be filled in from the information you supplied when you Created the Funeral. The Director's name on the left and the Place of Service on the right have ellipses which means they will be filled in from the Address Book.

In LedgerPRO, the Funeral Home and Director appear both on this page and the First Call Tab but the information is identical. In PrintPRO, there is no First Call Tab so the information must be entered here.

The Clergy and Music sections are Lists of People. The Date and Time fields are Masked.

This Tab includes several Notes fields. These fields allow you to type paragraphs of information for inclusion on your cards.

7.4 Disposition Tab

Clicking on the Disposition Tab displays:

Personal Service	ispecifican Parlations Phe	ue [Pining]			
	Centery		E Cutte	12:00 AM	
	Grave Location				
	Metho				
		V Notes	√ Pores	V 500	

The Cemetery is a Place. The Method of Disposition is a List. The Date and Time field are Masked. The Grave Location may simply be typed in. A Note field is provided for additional information concerning the disposition. Flowers and Shiva (special information for Jewish services) are also Note fields. Several Fields appear on this Tab in LedgerPRO that do not appear in PrintPRO.

7.5 Relatives Tab

People are entered into the Relatives list from this window.



When you click on New, a empty person record will be added to the top of the list and the Address Book will appear so that you can locate the name. Fill in the fields of the empty record as appropriate. The name field is a Person Field; however, if you want to find a person from the list but change the way the name appears for this case, you may do so. For example, you might want to find John Smith in the Address Book but change the name in your Relatives list to read Mr. and Mrs. John Smith.

You may also simply type in an entry without using your Address Book at all. For example, you might want to type in "3 Grandchildren" or "Several Nieces and Nephews" and you wouldn't want these phrases stored in the Address Book. To do this, either click on New to add a Relative and use Cancel to close the Address Book, or click on w/o Addr Book to add a record without bringing up the Book at all. The name of the spouse, mother, and father must be entered into the Address Book for use on government forms.

The relationship and city field are List Fields, and the remaining fields are Check Boxes.

Relatives are printed in the order they appear on this list which would initially be the order in which you chose to enter the names. However, the order may be changed. To move an entry, click on it and then click on the Red Up Arrow Symbol to move the name higher in the list or the Red Down Arrow Symbol to move it lower.

The Informant Button provides a quick way to copy the information for one of the family members to the Informant. Simply highlight the person who is to serve as the Informant and click on the button to copy the information to the First Call Tab. You may also do a similar operation in the other direction by first entering the Informant on the First Call Tab and then clicking a red arrow there to copy the information to the Family list.

7.6 Picture Tab

The Picture Tab communicates with TWAIN compliant scanners to acquire pictures. It also lets you manage Clip Art by moving the selector below the picture from Deceased Pic to Clip Art.



As you move your mouse over the icons, they will tell you what they do. For example, the first icon is for opening files. You would use this if the picture had already been scanned and was on your computer as a file. The second icon saves pictures to a file format. The program will save the pictures into a database and you do not need to also save them as a file unless you want to use them in other programs. The third icon will print the image. The fourth icon triggers your scanner while the fifth allows you to specify which scanner to use. Next are several icons that deal with zooming and the clipboard. Then there are icons to invert or rotate images. The final icon leads to the effect manager.



This screen provides advanced options to alter your picture. Some of the choices are fairly obvious in meaning; for example, Borders allows you to enclose your picture with a border and to specify its shape and color. Other choices are mysterious, and experimentation is the best way to learn what they do. We have included help topics written by the author of the effect manager (we purchased this part of the program from an outside company) which may be helpful if you wish to explore the advanced options.

Changing the selector to Clip Art produces:



Once again you have a row of controls. Clicking on the first icon will open folders.

Open	1 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A			1 ×
Look jn: 🔁 OpA	đ	- 🖬 🛃	8 🗖 🗉	
10commands	80 Cross	ich1	in result	
Crossoval Crossoval	5 cross3 5 cross5	B tenz M Rowers	E kiwanis	
📓 amyflag	Crossgid1	goldjesuscr	ions_bw	
butterfyor Church	Measterista_bw	Thands_1	lone_color	
		0		
<u> </u>				
File pame:			Open	
Files of type: At S	upported Media Formats		Cancel	

This displays the images the Clip Art folder. It is not necessary to select the Art you wish to use here. This is the place where you work with your images. You could delete an image, rename it, or open it and use the controls to add effects. You use Advanced to control the actual image printed in a particular print job.

You can use the Scan Image Control to add images to this folder. You could also download images from the internet or purchase them on cd and place them into this folder.

7.6.1 Filters and Effects

Filters and Effects

On the Filters and Effects window select the name of the effect (the folder) you want to apply to the image. After you have modified the image, chose an option from the Filters and Effects Manager to save or discard your changes.

AutoContrast	Mirror
Bleed	Mosaic
Borders	Motion Blur
Border Fade	Noisify
Blur	Oil Paint
Bright	Page Curl
Color Image	Paste

	PrintPRO	82
	· · · · · ·	
Color Palette	Pin	ch Hole
Dark	Pol	ar
Despeckle	Ro	tate
Edge Detection	Sha	arp
Engrave	Sot	ft
Enhance	Spi	ay
Extrude	Tile	Maker
Gamma	Thr	eshold
Gray Area	Tra	nsitions
Half Tone	Wa	ırp
Hue and Saturation	Wa	ve
Invert	Wh	irlPool
Jiggle		

7.6.1.1 Auto Contrast

Auto Contrast

To create Auto Contrast effect click Correction | AutoContrast or select AutoContrast folder. Follow direction on the folder.

Тір

The Auto Contrast effect will give you better contrast by making the darks darker and the lights lighter. In general, the Auto Contrast gives a good result when a simple contrast adjustment is needed to improve an image's contrast.

7.6.1.2 Bleed

Bleed

To create Bleed effect click Deformation | Bleed or select Bleed folder. The easy way to Bleed the Image is to use the slider control to adjust the RGB Value between -255 to 255. **Tip** Bleed causes the image's color palette to expand depending on the value that you select. The Bleed is applied

inside the image instead of outside the image. Use this when you want to intensify the colors of an image.

7.6.1.3 Borders

Borders

To create Borders effect click Image | Borders or select Borders folder. Choose border shape from Shape list; choose the thickness of the border by scrolling the Effects Manager bar ; press the Use Mask Color button and choose border color.

7.6.1.4 Border Fade

83

Border Fade

To create fade effect click Image | Border Fade or select Border Fade folder. Choose the size of the faded border you desire from Edge scroll bar ; press the Use Custom Color button and choose the color you desire or use the color of this window. **Tip** You can fade the Image from the Border towards the center of the Image depending on the value selected from 1 to 300.

7.6.1.5 Blur

Blur

To create blur effect click Deformation | Blur or select Blur folder. Select the value of blur filter by scrolling the Value scroll bar.

Tip

The Blur filter softens any hard contrast in the parts of the image where significant color transitions occur. The Blur filter smoothes transitions by averaging the pixels next to the hard edges of the defined lines and shaded areas. Begin by Blurring by small degrees at first, starting at value 10 to check for quality or desired effect.

7.6.1.6 Bright

Bright

To create bright effect click Correction | Bright or select Bright folder. Select the value of bright filter by scrolling the Value scroll bar.

Тір

Using the Bright effect is the easiest way to make generalized adjustments to the tonal range of the image. Sliding towards the positive values adds light to the image.

7.6.1.7 Color

Color

To settle the color effect click Correction | Color or select Color folder. Choose Color dithering method ; choose Number of colors by sliding bar to value desired.

7.6.1.8 Palettes

Palettes

Only high cost video systems are able to simultaneously display every possible color at every location on the screen. Most video boards display a limited number of colors. About a megabyte of video memory is needed to support 256 colors. Because of the limited numbers of colors that can be shown at one time, video boards must keep track of which colors to use. The 256 colors that can be shown at one time are selected from a range of more then 16 million possibilities. That range of colors is determined by the video board's use of three bytes of

information to specify the red, green, and blue elements of color. Limiting the choices to 256 colors in the palette at one time cuts the memory needed down to one megabyte. In addition the color of a pixel can be changed by just specifying one byte of information, the new palette entry number. This is fester then specifying three bytes for the RGB value of every pixel.

Each image you display has its own logical palette. The system palette determines which color actually appears on your screen. When the application wants to activate its own color, it must load its own logical palette into the system palette.

If the image stored in 24 bit, that means in 16.7 million color resolution and you display it on the system which supports just 16 bit or less the OS will confused what color to display. To adjust the page you convert the image to the system palette, to the colors which not exceed 256.

7.6.1.9 Color Palette

Color Palette

To select the color palette Palettes effect, click Correction | Color Palette or select Color Palette folder.

Increase the color palette if it is suggested by the application.

Choose the color from Color Palette box or directly from the page(click on it).

Change the color by dragging R,G,B scroll boxes.

You can first Save Palette to File and then use this palette to apply to another images.

From drop-down list choose the method to change images and click Apply button.

7.6.1.10 Dark

Dark

To create dark effect, click Correction | Dark or select Dark folder. Select the value of dark filter by scrolling the Value scroll bar.

Tip

Using the Dark effect is the way to make

generalized adjustments to the tonal range of the image.

For example sliding towards the positive values adds blackness.

The color is reduced as darkness added.

7.6.1.11 Despeckle

Despeckle

To create despeckle effect, click Correction | Despeckle or select Despeckle folder.

Change the value in the Value scroll box.

Тір

This option allows the filling in of missing pixels on the color page. If the image has missing pixels on it, you can visually determine what value to choose, how many pixels around the missing one should be seen by application to achieve the correct color. Bit resolution, or pixel fix, is a measurement of the number of bits of stored information per pixel. Bit resolution determines how much color information is available for each pixel in the file. Greater pixel fix means more available colors and more accurate color representation in the image.

7.6.1.12 Edge Detection

Edge Detection

To determine intensity of Edge Detection click Image | Edge Detection or select Edge Detection folder. Choose a Value between 1 to 100 using the scroll box.

Тір

Use the Edge Detection effect to intensify outlines of high contrast while darkening areas of low contrast. You can set sensitivity of edge detection by value.

7.6.1.13 Engrave

Engrave

To make an Engraved image, click Deformation | Engraved or select Engraved folder. Choose a Value on the slider control between 1 to 10. **Tip**

The value from 1 and up to value 10 deletes the color and generalizes areas into high and low tones, the more the value, the thicker the Engraved line.

7.6.1.14 Enhance

Enhance

To set Enhance filter, click Correction | Enhance or choose Enhance folder.

Тір

Use the Enhance filter to increase or decrease RGB values among areas of different colors and shades.

7.6.1.15 Extrude

Extrude

To create extrude effect, click Deformation | Extrude or select Extrude folder. Select the value of extrude effect by scrolling the Value scroll bar.

Тір

Extrude - creates a waffle iron effect on the image. Extrude value allows you to monitor size of pyramid.

7.6.1.16 Gamma

Gamma

To make Gamma correction, click Correction | Gamma or select Gamma folder. Select the value of gamma effect by scrolling the Value scroll bar.

Тір

In Gamma correction you can make gradual adjustments to the brightness or contrast of an image. Adjusting the gamma lets you change the brightness values of the middle range of gray tones without dramatically altering the shadows and highlights.

7.6.1.17 Gray Area

Gray Area

To apply gray area effect, click Image | Gray Area or select Gray Area folder. Make selection and follow direction on the screen. **Tip**

Gray effect can be applied to whole image, It mixes the black and white to gray tone.

7.6.1.18 Half Tone

Half Tone

To create half tone, effect click Correction | Half Tone or select Half Tone folder.

Tip

Half tone, the reproduction of a continuous - tone image on a device which does not directly support continuous output. This is done by displaying or printing a pattern of small dots which, from a distance, can meld optically to simulate the desired output color or intensity. It is possible to change Pixel Angle and Cell size.

7.6.1.19 Hue and Saturation

Hue and Saturation

To create Hue and Saturation effect click Correction | Hue and Saturation or select Hue and Saturation folder. Choose the color and change Hue, Saturation, and Bright value.

7.6.1.20 Invert

Invert

To create Invert effect, click Image | Invert or select Invert folder. Tip

The Invert effect reverses the positive and negative areas of an image. You can use this effect to turn a positive into a negative or to create a positive image from a scanned negative.

7.6.1.21 Jiggle

Jiggle

To create Jiggle effect click Deformation | Jiggle or select Jiggle folder. Choose the Shape of deformation and the value of Period or Amplitude. **Tip**

The Period controls the squiggle and the Amplitude controls the stretch or pull effect sometimes doubling or tripling the image.

7.6.1.22 Mirror

87

Mirror

To create Mirror effect click Image | Mirror or select Mirror folder. Choose the Vertical or Horizontal position of the image.

7.6.1.23 Mosaic

Mosaic

To create Mosaic effect click Deformation | Mosaic or select Mosaic folder. Choose two of four different mosaic types, adjust the Size, Space, Light, Height appearance and Random position of mosaic cells.

Тір

The Mosaic effect groups pixels into different blocks. The cell size is the width of a cell in pixels. The pixels in a given block are the same color, and the colors of the blocks represent the colors in the selection.

7.6.1.24 Motion Blur

Motion Blur

To create Motion Blur effect, click Deformation | Motion Blur or select Motion Blur folder. Choose one of three Motion Groups: Motion Zoom, Motion Rotate, and Motion Line.

Тір

The Motion Blur effect blurs the image to reproduce a simulation

of movement. The effect of this filter is analogous to taking

a picture of a moving object with a fixed exposure time.

* Motion Zoom- blurs the edges of the border towards the center.

* Motion Rotate-blurs from the edge to center in a rotating fashion.

7.6.1.25 Noise Effect

Noise Effect

To create Noise effect, click Deformation | Noisify or select Noisify folder. Choose the Red, Blue, and Green value to specify the appearance of random picked pixels on the image. Choose the Gray value of Pixels to have only gray dots on the image. Choose either Uniform or Gauss (more blur) method.

7.6.1.26 Oil Paint

Oil Paint

To create Oil Paint effect, click Deformation | Oil Paint or select Oil Paint folder. Choose Value on the slider control between 1 to 100.

7.6.1.27 Page Curl

Page Curl

To create Page Curl effect click Deformation | Page Curl or select Page Curl folder. On the Shading panel you have the choice to use: the Foreground or Background color; the shade under the curl; the value of shading transparency.

On the Background panel you can choose to use Foreground color or background color.

You can choose to Keep the image under the curl.

On the Orientation panel you can choose the Vertical or Horizontal alignment of the curl.

On the Location panel you can choose the corner on which the curl will appear.

7.6.1.28 Paste Image

Paste Image

To create Paste Image effect, click Deformation | Paste Image or select Paste Image folder.

To paste the image from the file, select the location of the file and the image will automatically load

To paste the image from the clipboard, copy it to the clipboard and then press the button Paste Image From Clipboard.

To paste the image from the scanner, press the button Select Twain Source, then Aquire Image.

This executes the Twain Manager, provided by your twain device vendor, and acquires a single image.

7.6.1.29 Pinch Hole

Pinch Hole

To create Pinch Hole effect click, Deformation | Pinch Hole or select Pinch Hole folder. To Pinch a Hole in the Image, use slider control .To adjust size of hole choose a Value between -20 to 0.

Tip

The Pinch Hole rotates the center of image so that the center disappears.

7.6.1.30 Polar

Polar

To create Polar effect, click Deformation | Polar or select Polar folder.

By Choosing Inverse, you can flip the image referring to the vertical line of symmetry.

By Choosing Backwards, you can flip the image referring to the horizontal line of symmetry.

By Changing the Angle value you can turn the image on given angle.

By Sliding the Value scroll box you are squeezing the image from the corners toward the center.

Тір

This effect gives a view of the image as if you are standing on the on North Pole and looking down.

7.6.1.31 Rotate

Rotate

To create Rotate effect, click Image | Rotate or select Rotate folder. Press the Background Color button and choose the color. Slide Angle scroll box and find desired value of angle. **Tip**

The Rotate effect rotates the image according to the horizontal and vertical limits set in the Rotate dialog box. The rotation is applied as if the image were three-dimensional.

7.6.1.32 Sharp

89

Sharp

To create Sharp effect click Correction | Sharp or select Sharp folder. Choose the value in the Value scroll box.

Тір

The Sharp effect provides more definition to blurry images by applying sharpening only when an edge is found. The Sharp effect preserves the overall smoothness of the image and focuses on only the edges.

7.6.1.33 Soft

Soft

To create Soft effect, click Correction | Soft or select Soft folder. Choose the value in the Value scroll box. **Tip** The Soft effect provides the opposite of the Sharp effect.

It smoothes the edges between the colors.

7.6.1.34 Spray

Spray

To create Spray effect, click Deformation | Spray or select Spray folder. Choose the value in the Random and in the Value scroll boxes. **Tip** The Spray effect does not depend on the palette of the image. It randomly chooses colors.

The Spray effect applies the palette as if from a spray can .

7.6.1.35 Tile Maker

Tile Maker

To create Tile Maker effect, click Image | Tile Maker or select Tile Maker folder.

Тір

The Image is quartered and duplicates of each quarter are positioned at each corner. By using this effect, you can create a complete image in each corner of the image. The intersected areas may interfere with each other.

7.6.1.36 Threshold

Threshold

To create Threshold effect, click Image | Threshold or select Threshold folder. Choose the value in the Value scroll boxes.

Choose the Anti-Aliasing effect if you wish to smooth the edges.

Tip

By choosing the Value you determine the Threshold. If the value of one of the RGB parts of the color is bigger than the value of the Threshold, then it transforms to a value of 255. If it less than the value of the threshold, it transforms the value to 0.

That means that the hue (red, green or blue) will transform into the pure color.

7.6.1.37 Transitions

Transitions

To create Transitions effect, click Transition menu or select Transition folder. Choose the value in the Delay and in the Thickness scroll boxes. Choose the transition effect, select the radio buttons:

* None

- * Horizontal- Image is loaded using Horizontal bands.
- * Vertical Image is loaded using Vertical bands.
- * Diagonal Image is loaded by using bands from opposite corners.
- * Squares Image is loaded to appear in a checkerboard pattern.
- * Rectangle Image is loaded from border to center in bands.

Тір

Delay determines the speed. Thickness determines the shape of the effect.

7.6.1.38 Warp

Warp

To create Warp effect, click Deformation | Warp or select Warp folder. Change the value of ScaleFac to smear pixels of the image. Change the value of Displacement Scaling factor to enlarge the distance between the pixels. Change the Vector Rotate value to select the direction of the rotating.

7.6.1.39 Wave

Wave

To create Wave effect, click Deformation | Wave or select Wave folder. Change the value of Wave Length, Phase, and Amplitude by sliding the scroll box indicator. Choose the Smear Waves to smooth the edges between colors.

Тір

Waves spread out from the center of the selected area to the periphery. Setting Wave Length, Phase and Amplitude gives the length and phase and amplitude of the wave. This effect recreates an image which looks as if a stone is thrown into a pond.

7.6.1.40 WhirlPool

WhirlPool

To create WhirlPool effect click Deformation | WhirlPool or select WhirlPool folder. Choose the value in the Value scroll box. **Tip** WhirlPool effect rotates the pixels of the image around the center of a selected area.

7.6.2 Filters and Effects Manager

Filters and Effects Manager

Hide Selection

Reset Selection Reload Preview Apply Stop Close and Save Close and do not Save Save Setting on Exit

7.6.2.1 Hide Selection

Hide Selection

The Hide Selection makes the selected area invisible. If you wish not to see the <u>selected area, the Rubberband</u>Selected_area_the_Rubberband, press the button Hide Selection.

7.6.2.2 Selected area, the Rubberband

Selected area, the Rubberband

The selected area is the rectangle where the effect may be applied.

7.6.2.3 Reset Selection

Reset Selection

Press Reset Selection button to choose another selected area.

7.6.2.4 Reload

Reload

Press Reload button to change the image after it had been previewed. The previous image which was in memory will appear.

7.6.2.5 Preview

Preview

Press Preview button if you would like to see a preview of how the effect will look. In this case the changed page will not be stored in the main memory.

7.6.2.6 Apply

Apply

Press Apply button to store the effect to the master image. After you have applied the image, you will no longer be able to load the original image.

7.6.2.7 Stop

Stop

While applying the effect you can press Stop button to stop process of image's transformation. It will be the cause the program to recover the original image as quickly as possible.

7.6.2.8 Close and Save

Close and Save

Press Close and Save button to close Filters and Effects window. Now you can see the effect which has been applied to the image and saved to memory. The Thumbnails will be marked as "changed".

7.6.2.9 Close and do not Save

Close and do not Save

Press Close and do not Save to close Filters and Effects window. You can see that the effect has not been saved in the memory.

7.6.2.10 Save Setting on Exit

Save Setting on Exit

Click File | Save Setting on Exit to keep the Filters and Effects window unchanged. Next time you open the Filters and Effects window, the same folder will be opened, with the same size of the selected area, and the same size of the window.

7.7 Prayer Cards

When you click on the Printing Tab, the Prayer Card sub-tab will be displayed.



Show Alignment Borders is a Check Box. Placing a check here will cause boxes to print around your cards. You wouldn't normally do this when you were actually printing to your Prayer Card Stock, but sometimes the boxes are useful when you print to a plain piece of paper or wish to adjust margins.

The List field that initially displays "Both Sides Tear Off" is the Paper Size List. All of the popular variations of 8 up prayer cards are on the list. In addition there is a Custom Card Size choice which

when selected allows you to use the Card Stock Button at the right of the screen to specify a custom configuration.

Below the Card Size list is the Verse List. Double clicking on the name of the verse will incorporate it into your card - unless you've chosen a Data Set without a Verse. It is best to select your Font, Data, and Layout Sets before choosing your verse. To add your own verses to the list, click on Verse Book.

The Select Fonts List allows you to choose the Font Set, Select Data chooses the Data Set, and Select Layout chooses the Layout. We have pre-configured a number of Sets that we think are attractive but you may create more using the Advanced Button.

Fonts Sets are described with names like Old English Small(OldEnglish) or Bold-Old English Small(Opulent Bold-OldEnglish). In the first example, all of the printing is in an Old English font in a small size. Normally you would want a small size for Prayer Cards unless your verse was very short. The program will shrink a large font to avoid overflowing a card but will not expand a small font; it does, however, adjust spacing between sections to even out white space. The second OldEnglish in parentheses is the actual name of the font. In the second example, two fonts are listed. The first font, Bold, indicates the font for headings while the second font, Old English, is for the data. In parentheses we see that the actual name for what we are calling Bold is Opulent Bold.

Data Sets are described with names like In Memory Of, In Memory Of - Picture Top, and Name. In Memory Of is our standard layout. In Memory Of - Picture Top includes the picture from the picture page at the top. Name includes only the name of the deceased and would normally be used over a background on the front side of a card.

Layout sets are described with names like No Background, and Background. If you are printing the inside of a card, you would normally choose the No Background Layout. However, selecting a Background will allow you to print the outside of the card if you are starting with a plain piece of paper. Choosing a Background would also be appropriate if you were producing a memorial tribute rather than a traditional prayer card.

Do not use a Data Set that includes a picture when you choose a Layout Set with a Background. If you want to have a picture of the deceased appear over a background, choose a Data Set with just text and choose a Layout Set with both a background and a foreground picture. Adjust the Text Margins and the Foreground Picture position so that the text and the picture do not overlap. Checking Show Alignment Borders will draw boxes to aid in making these measurements.

When you return to a Funeral, the window will display the card as you last printed it. You will be able to print more by simply clicking on Print. If you've made changes in the data though, you'll first need to click on the Remake Button to have the program recreate the card with the changed data. Changing Items on this windows such as the Font Set will also cause the card to remake. Some care needs to be exercised here though. While the program will display the card exactly as it was printed (it saves an image of the card), the program does not know the name of the verse you selected or the values of the List Fields you chose and so these items may not correspond to the actual saved card. In fact, they will correspond to the last funeral you worked on rather than the saved funeral which is normally a convenience in entering new funerals which may trip you up if you aren't careful. So you'll need to make sure these items are as you want them before you click on Remake.

The Resizing Controls allow you to fine tune the spacing. When the card is as you wish, click Print and the Printer Window will appear.

7.8 Memorial Folders

When you click on the Memorial Folders sub-tab under the Printing Tab, the Inside Left sub-sub tab will be displayed.

and the second second second		• 6
House Hase	12	
12/23/1007	Paperwork, Your Burdensome	
Faury of Service Disputitive D	Coloot Newscard	
Previous Neurol Table 1	3 CICCU La Instantion Ambient	
1		
hicitiste a	side /~	
and the second s		
Service (Vicer da)	Select V	
7 ant	I DODOCK I Beisens-Privileke Sewinght -	
- Faro Assoc	f fanta 1 starting	1
Enhagen	J TUFICS, L MADRING THE S	
Balant Lan	Canadia the Inclusion of Sec. 2	
May Hear would	data & r	
Differen	Contrast of the Charles Atomat	
Dighter Calvic	Atrick Duput /	
Down	Prairie move destrict IdyUUL / Presses -	
Del PC TARA	72 Dates losses to stragter A	
COLUMN AND IN		
Denie Coureiu		
D-16 Date	Di lanyey tenen, and lenglang tinan, and hight and	
The second second	II waarden	
Didnigh Dama	— We have the bears of these when prive to day before the	
Transfer Booker	100	
Turke Late	Of heppy concrete what I have a whole 'D's down.	
Cardinal and discus		
Loca Carder Mart De Dewill d	- Facilit of State	-
D. Albert P. De Teles	Research Freed and Low Second	
1-011-02	And the second sec	
Father Coarts	Base day Law - Addition	
Int Pages SP	when the Association of the Asso	
Define		
Indian Praya	10709/09/07 0 1 Land	
hads all a strong	The second secon	
	a hours hour i	

The Inside Right window is very similar.



Show Alignment Borders is a Check Box. Placing a check here will cause boxes to print around your cards. You wouldn't normally do this when you were actually printing to your Memorial Folder Stock, but sometimes the boxes are useful when you print to a plain piece of paper or wish to adjust margins.

The List field that initially displays "8 $1/2 \times 11 2$ -up" is the Paper Size List. All of the popular variations of memorial folders are on the list. In addition there is a Custom Card Size choice which when selected allows you to use the Card Stock Button at the right of the screen to specify a custom configuration.

The Verse List will appear on the left unless the Verse Type Selector is set to "No Verse." Double clicking on the name of the verse will incorporate it into your card - unless you've chosen a Data Set without a Verse. It is best to select your Font, Data, and Layout Sets before choosing your verse. To add your own verses to the list, click on Verse Book.

The Select Fonts List allows you to choose the Font Set, Select Data chooses the Data Set, and Select Layout chooses the Layout. We have pre-configured a number of Sets that we think are attractive but you may create more using the Advanced Button.

Fonts Sets are described with names like Old English Small(OldEnglish) or Bold-Old English

Small(Opulent Bold-OldEnglish). In the first example, all of the printing is in an Old English font in a small size. Normally you would want a medium size for the Inside Right. The length of your verse, or the size of your picture, will determine whether to use a medium a small or even a large on the Inside Left. Good design suggests using the same fonts on both sides but not necessarily the same size. The program will shrink a large font to avoid overflowing a card but will not expand a small font; it does, however, adjust spacing between sections to even out white space. The second OldEnglish in parentheses is the actual name of the font. In the second example, two fonts are listed. The first font, Bold, indicates the font for headings while the second font, Old English, is for the data. In parentheses we see that the actual name for what we are calling Bold is Opulent Bold.

Data Sets are described with names like In Memory Of, In Memory Of - Picture Top, Name, and Verse. In Memory Of is our standard data set for the right side. In Memory Of - Picture Top includes the picture from the picture page at the top. Name includes only the name of the deceased and would normally be used over a background on the front side of a card. Verse is the standard data set for the left side.

Layout sets are described with names like No Background, and Background. If you are printing the inside of a folder, you would normally choose the No Background Layout. However, selecting a Background will allow you to print the outside of the folder if you are starting with a plain piece of paper. Choosing a Background would also be appropriate if you were producing a memorial tribute rather than a traditional memorial folder.

Do not use a Data Set that includes a picture when you choose a Layout Set with a Background. If you want to have a picture of the deceased appear over a background, choose a Data Set with just text and choose a Layout Set with both a background and a foreground picture. Adjust the Text Margins and the Foreground Picture position so that the text and the picture do not overlap. Checking Show Alignment Borders will draw boxes to aid in making these measurements.

When you return to a Funeral, the window will display the folder as you last printed it. You will be able to print more by simply clicking on Print. If you've made changes in the data though, you'll first need to click on the Remake Button to have the program recreate the folder with the changed data. Changing Items on this windows such as the Font Set will also cause the card to remake. Some care needs to be exercised here though. While the program will display the folder exactly as it was printed (it saves an image), the program does not know the name of the verse you selected or the values of the List Fields you chose and so these items may not correspond to the actual saved folder. In fact, they will correspond to the last funeral you worked on rather than the saved funeral which is normally a convenience in entering new funerals which may trip you up if you aren't careful. So you'll need to make sure these items are as you want them before you click on Remake.

The Resizing Controls allow you to fine tune the spacing. When the card is as you wish, click Print and the Printer Window will appear.

7.9 Tri-Folds

When you click on the Memorial Folders sub-tab under the Printing Tab, the Tri-Fold Left sub-sub tab will be displayed.



The Tri-Fold Center and Tri-Fold Right sub-sub tabs are identical to the Tri-Fold Left sub-sub tab.

Tri-Folds are currently designed to print landscape on letter sized paper. If you need to use a different paper size, let us know and we will add a paper-size selector.

Show Alignment Borders is a Check Box. Placing a check here will cause boxes to print around your folders. You wouldn't normally do this when you were actually printing to your Memorial Folder Stock, but sometimes the boxes are useful when you print to a plain piece of paper or wish to adjust margins.

The Verse List will appear on the left unless the Verse Type Selector is set to "No Verse." Double clicking on the name of the verse will incorporate it into your card - unless you've chosen a Data Set without a Verse. It is best to select your Font, Data, and Layout sets before choosing your verse. To add your own verses to the list, click on Verse Book.

The Select Fonts List specifies the Font Set, Select Data specifies the Data Set, and Select Layout specifies the Layout Set. We have pre-configured a number of Sets that we think are attractive but you may create more using the Advanced Button.

Fonts Sets are described with names like Old English Small (OldEnglish) or Bold-Old English Small (Opulent Bold-OldEnglish). In the first example, all of the printing is in an Old English font in a small size. Normally you would want a medium size for the Inside Right. The length of your verse, or the size of your picture, will determine whether to use a medium a small or even a large on the Inside Left. Good design suggests using the same fonts on both sides but not necessarily the same size. The program will shrink a large font to avoid overflowing a card but will not expand a small font; it does, however, adjust spacing between sections to even out white space. The second OldEnglish in parentheses is the actual name of the font. In the second example, two fonts are listed. The first font, Bold, indicates the font for headings while the second font, Old English, is for the data. In parentheses we see that the actual name for what we are calling Bold is Opulent Bold.

Data Sets are described with names like Verse - Picture (Top). Selecting a Data Set with more information suggests using a smaller size Font Set. Which data set you use on each tab, may depend upon how you plan to fold the paper.

Layout sets are described with names like No Background, and Background. If you are printing the inside of a folder, you would normally choose the No Background Layout. However, selecting a Background will allow you to print the outside of the folder if you are starting with a plain piece of paper. Which tabs will be on the inside and which will be on the outside, depend entirely upon how you choose to fold the paper.

Do not use a Data Set that includes a picture when you choose a Layout Set with a Background. If you want to have a picture of the deceased appear over a background, choose a Data Set with just text and choose a Layout Set with both a background and a foreground picture. Adjust the Text Margins

and the Foreground Picture position so that the text and the picture do not overlap. Checking Show Alignment Borders will draw boxes to aid in making these measurements.

When you return to a Funeral, the window will display the card as you last printed it. You will be able to print more by simply clicking on Print. If you've made changes in the data though, you'll first need to click on the Remake Button to have the program recreate the card with the changed data. Changing Items on this windows such as the Font Set will also cause the card to remake. Some care needs to be exercised here though. While the program will display the card exactly as it was printed (it saves an image of the card), the program does not know the name of the verse you selected or the values of the List Fields you chose and so these items may not correspond to the actual saved card. In fact, they will correspond to the last funeral you worked on rather than the saved funeral which is normally a convenience in entering new funerals which may trip you up if you aren't careful. So you'll need to make sure these items are as you want them before you click on Remake.

The Resizing Controls allow you to fine tune the spacing. When the card is as you wish, click Print and the Printer Window will appear.

7.10 Acknowledgement Cards

When you click on the Acknowledgement Card sub-tab of the Printing Tab, this window will be displayed.



Show Alignment Borders is a Check Box. Placing a check here will cause boxes to print around your cards. You wouldn't normally do this when you were actually printing to your Acknowledgement Card Stock, but sometimes the boxes are useful when you print to a plain piece of paper or wish to adjust margins.

The List field that initially displays "8 $1/2 \times 11 - 2 \text{ up}$ " is the Paper Size List. All of the popular variations of acknowledgement cards are on the list. In addition there is a Custom Card Size choice which when selected allows you to use the Card Stock Button at the right of the screen to specify a custom configuration.

Below the Card Size list is the Verse List. Double clicking on the name of the verse will incorporate it into your card - unless you've chosen a Data Set without a Verse. It is best to select your Font and Data Set before choosing your verse. To add your own verses to the list, click on Verse Book.

The X and Y Offsets move the print on the page. X is for left or right and Y is for up and down. You may move left or up from zero with negative numbers. The offset is in inches, but you shouldn't need to use any offset unless your cards are slightly off size and then small adjustments like .10 or .005 should be sufficient.

The Select Fonts List specifies the Font Set and Select Data specifies the Data Set List. We have preconfigured a number of Sets that we think are attractive but you may create more using the Advanced Button.

Fonts Sets are described with names like Old English Small(OldEnglish) or Bold-Old English Small(Opulent Bold-OldEnglish). In the first example, all of the printing is in an Old English font in a small size. Normally you would want a large size for Acknowledgement Cards unless your sentiment is very long. The program will shrink a large font to avoid overflowing a card but will not expand a small font; it does, however, adjust spacing between sections to even out white space. The second OldEnglish in parentheses is the actual name of the font. In the second example, two fonts are listed. The first font, Bold, indicates the font for headings while the second font, Old English, is for the data. In parentheses we see that the actual name for what we are calling Bold is Opulent Bold.

Data Sets are described with names like Name After Verse. Some verses are designed for the name to follow it and some expect the name to come first. Be sure to select a Data Set with the name in the right place for the verse you chose.

When you return to a Funeral, the window will display the card as you last printed it. You will be able to print more by simply clicking on Print. If you've made changes in the data though, you'll first need to click on the Remake Button to have the program recreate the card with the changed data. Changing Items on this windows such as the Font Set will also cause the card to remake. Some care needs to be exercised here though. While the program will display the card exactly as it was printed (it saves an image of the card), the program does not know the name of the verse you selected or the values of the List Fields you chose and so these items may not correspond to the actual saved card. In fact, they will correspond to the last funeral you worked on rather than the saved funeral which is normally a convenience in entering new funerals which may trip you up if you aren't careful. So you'll need to make sure these items are as you want them before you click on Remake.

The Resizing Controls allow you to fine tune the spacing. When the card is as you wish, click Print and the Printer Window will appear.

7.11 Register Books

When you click on the Register Book sub-tab of the Printing Tab, this window will be displayed.



Show Alignment Borders is a Check Box. Placing a check here will cause boxes to print around your cards. You wouldn't normally do this when you were actually printing to your Register Book Card Stock, but sometimes the boxes are useful when you print to a plain piece of paper or wish to adjust margins.

The List field that initially displays "6.5 x 9" is the Paper Size List. Both of the standard book sizes are

on the list. In addition there is a Custom Card Size choice which when selected allows you to use the Card Stock Button at the right of the screen to specify a custom configuration.

The Select Fonts List specifies the Font Set and Select Book specifies the Book Set List. We have preconfigured a number of Sets that we think are attractive but you may create more using the Advanced Button. Actually there are two Advanced Buttons for Register Books. On the left is a Button for the Book which lets you name the pages to be included, and on the right is a Button for the selected Page which lets you define the information that appears on it.

Fonts Sets are described with names like Old English Small(OldEnglish) or Bold-Old English Small(Opulent Bold-OldEnglish). In the first example, all of the printing is in an Old English font in a small size. Normally you would want a extra large size for Register Books. The program will shrink a large font to avoid overflowing a card but will not expand a small font; it does, however, adjust spacing between sections to even out white space. The second OldEnglish in parentheses is the actual name of the font. In the second example, two fonts are listed. The first font, Bold, indicates the font for headings while the second font, Old English, is for the data. In parentheses we see that the actual name for what we are calling Bold is Opulent Bold.

The predefined Books are Blank Pages, Centered Titles, and Left Titles. Blank Pages prints the entire page including the Title at the top. Centered Titles assumes that the top heading is centered and centers the data below it. Left Titles assumes that the top heading is at the left and aligns the data to the left as well. All of these sets are for "computer interiors". If you have books that have preprinted lines for typewriters, you should contact your book company and ask about exchanging the pages for computer interiors. Most suppliers will do this at no charge.

Do not use a Data Set that includes a picture when you choose a Layout Set with a Background. If you want to have a picture of the deceased appear over a background, choose a Data Set with just text and choose a Layout Set with both a background and a foreground picture. Adjust the Text Margins and the Foreground Picture position so that the text and the picture do not overlap. Checking Show Alignment Borders will draw boxes to aid in making these measurements.

When you return to a Funeral, the window will display the book as you last printed it. You will be able to print more by simply clicking on Print. If you've made changes in the data though, you'll first need to click on the Remake Button to have the program recreate the card with the changed data. Changing Items on this windows such as the Font Set will also cause the card to remake. Note that there are two Remake Buttons, one for the whole book and one for the selected page.

The Resizing Controls allow you to fine tune the spacing. When the book is as you wish, click Print. You may print the whole book by clicking on the Print button in the left column or a single page by clicking in the right column and the Printer Window will appear.

7.12 Miscellaneous

When you click on the Miscellaneous sub-tab of the Printing Tab, this window will be displayed.



Show Alignment Borders is a Check Box. Placing a check here will cause boxes to print around your cards. You wouldn't normally do this when you were actually printing to your forms, but sometimes the boxes are useful when you print to a plain piece of paper or wish to adjust margins.

The List field that initially displays "8 $1/2 \times 11 - 1 \text{ up}$ " is the Paper Size List. The list includes sizes appropriate for signs, grave markers, and book marks. In addition there is a Custom Card Size choice which when selected allows you to use the Card Stock Button at the right of the screen to specify a custom configuration.

The Select Fonts List specifies the Font Set, Select Data specifies the Data Set, and Select Layout specifies the Layout Set. We have preconfigured a number of Sets that we think are attractive but you may create more using the Advanced Button. Be sure to select Font, Data, and Layout Sets appropriate to your particular job. Different Data Sets have been provided for the various paper types used on this Tab. Also, you will want to select a Font Set with an appropriate size.

Fonts Sets are described with names like Old English Small(OldEnglish) or Bold-Old English Small(Opulent Bold-OldEnglish). In the first example, all of the printing is in an Old English font in a small size. Normally you would want a large size for a Sign but a small size for a bookmark. The program will shrink a large font to avoid overflowing a card but will not expand a small font; it does, however, adjust spacing between sections to even out white space. The second OldEnglish in parentheses is the actual name of the font. In the second example, two fonts are listed. The first font, Bold, indicates the font for headings while the second font, Old English, is for the data. In parentheses we see that the actual name for what we are calling Bold is Opulent Bold.

Layout sets are described with names like No Background, and Background. Do not use a Data Set that includes a picture when you choose a Layout Set with a Background. If you want to have a picture of the deceased appear over a background, choose a Data Set with just text and choose a Layout Set with both a background and a foreground picture. Adjust the Text Margins and the Foreground Picture position so that the text and the picture do not overlap. Checking Show Alignment Borders will draw boxes to aid in making these measurements.

When you return to a Funeral, the window will display the card as you last printed it. You will be able to print more by simply clicking on Print. If you've made changes in the data though, you'll first need to click on the Remake Button to have the program recreate the card with the changed data. Changing Items on this windows such as the Font Set will also cause the card to remake. Some care needs to be exercised here though. While the program will display the card exactly as it was printed (it saves an image of the card), the program does not know the name of the verse you selected or the values of the List Fields you chose and so these items may not correspond to the actual saved card. In fact, they will correspond to the last funeral you worked on rather than the saved funeral which is normally a convenience in entering new funerals which may trip you up if you aren't careful. So you'll need to make sure these items are as you want them before you click on Remake.

The Resizing Controls allow you to fine tune the spacing. When the card is as you wish, click Print and the Printer Window will appear.

7.13 Advanced

When you click on Advanced in any of the printing sections of PrintPRO, a screen something like this will appear.

🛄 CandSetup		ba.	
DIVACS_DATA DIVACS_DATA DIVACS_DATA	AData Pipus Roman Hedium (Gar AData Pipus Un Marroy Dilar AData Pipus No Back ground layo	antrol) kovi ut	🔽 Spanish Datar
Fage1 Page2	Page3 Page4 Layout		
	Data Header For	in Memory Of	Bom
	Data Font	Your Burdenso	F Header
	5	7 Header 7 Indude Name	P Place
	E Page Title	Include Mr. Mri. elc.	Died
	Use these	e to create a	Noadar .
	set with a	new name.	Fixe T Z5deres
		\sim	
	UK Bara Data Ba	Save Ecrite 🗄 Save Lay	ext 🗶 Dances 🖉 Holo

Here you may change the words that are used for titles, control what data appears, and specify fonts. A check box at the top of the page allows you to specify that dates will be formatted in Spanish.

An important feature allows you to change the way the items will be spaced on the page. These controls are on the last tab in Advanced which is labeled Layout.

🗮 CardSetup		
D-WCS_DATA/Data/Ppro/Rom D-WCS_DATA/Data/Ppro/In Mr D-WCS_DATA/Data/Ppro/Voll	an Medium (Garamond) for the mory DI mit ackground layout	☐ Spanish Dates
Page1 Page2 Page3 Page4	Felort	
Test Layout Spread Vertically	Picture At Top	Foreground Picture
Allow Shanking	None 000 m \$	Manual Horizontally 💌 0.00 in 😋
Certered v Margine	Background and Foreground images print but will not appear on the card preview Background Picture	Manus Veticaly v 0.00 in \$
Tep: 0.30 m 0 Fight 0.30 m 0	Image Height & Poston v Manual Hoizontally v 0.00 n 0	Top 000 m 0 Right 000 m 0
Boton: 0.30 m €	Manual Venicaly 💌 0.00 in 🗧	Bottom (0.00 m 2)

A selector in the upper left hand corner of the page lets you chose from three types of vertical spacing for the text. Centered Vertically locates the text a little above center as we think this is more pleasing to the eye than using the exact center. Spread Vertically adjusts the spacing between sections to fill the entire space. Choosing Manual Spacing causes two additional fields for the Top Offset and Spacer size to appear. The next selector allows you to choose whether the text will be centered horizontally or aligned to the left or right margin. As this is written, Acknowledgement Cards are all centered horizontally, but this may have changed by the time you read this as we plan to add the horizontal spacing control everywhere.

The choices you make in the Text Layout section of this page are all stored in your Data Set. The second column allows you to specify whether there will be a picture at the top or the bottom. These settings are also part of the data set and the pictures you select will be part of your preview.

The remaining items on this tab store in the Layout Set. The margins set at the bottom of the first column define the area in which the text will appear. You will probably not need to change Margins on Prayer Cards or Memorial Folders unless you are using a background image or your printer is clipping the output near the edges of the paper. All printers have an area at each edge of the paper in which they can not print. To determine whether you need to adjust the margins to compensate for your printer's unprintable area, print a job on plain paper with the Show Alignment Borders Box checked. If the printer has cut off the boxes that show the text area, adjust the margins until all sides of all of the boxes print. The program fits the text into the margins defined here so counter-intuitively it may be necessary to define a bigger rather than a smaller bottom margin to keep keep your printer from clipping the bottom edge.

With Acknowledgement Cards and Register Books, adjusting margins is the preferred way to deal with pages with panels or borders. You might want to bring down the top margin to clear a pre-printed heading, or bring in one side margin to clear a border, or both side margins to shorten the lines of text in your verse.

The Advanced section also allows you to specify pictures and clip art and set their sizes. You can separately specify pictures at top or bottom using fields that look like:

Deceased	
----------	--

When you click on the 3 dots at the right of these fields, you will see



Select None and click <u>O</u>K for no picture. Select Deceased and click <u>O</u>K for a picture of the Deceased. Select ClipArt and click <u>O</u>K to bring up the screen to choose your Clip Art.

Open	1. S.			_	Ŷ X
Look jez 🔁 ClpAr		- 🗉 🖸	2 🗖 🗉		
10 commands 3 crossoval aitorce amyflag butterfyor 10 Church	위Doos 를 coat5 를 coat6 g coatgd1 Heatenstar_be Meatenstar_be	ぎ lich1 ぎ lich2 御 Rowers ぎ goldenuccr 御 handt_1 紀 handt_2	B pour John316 B kwaris B kon_color B kon_color		
K			<u>Dom</u>	_	
Files of type: At S	pported Media Formats	-	Cancel	P	

Click on the image of your choice to highlight it, and then click <u>Open to copy the name of your image</u> into the picture field.

A word of caution is required. If you select say Basic and Roman Small and make changes here and exit by simply clicking on OK, you will be changing the Sets we defined for you. If later you install an update, your changes will be lost. The solution is to save your changes into a new Set with a name of

your choosing. Say for example you wish to make a special Set with a larger than normal picture without losing your regular setup. The best way to do this is to first choose a Data Set with a picture, say Basic - Picture (top), click Advanced, change the Pic Height as you wish and click on Save <u>D</u>ata to bring up the Setup screen.

Prayer Card Setup	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Save jn: 🖾 Acs	• • Ø # •
Data EmptyData Basic - Picture (bottom).pc Basic - Picture (top).pc Basic Caps.pc Basic cpc	Interment Caps.pc Interment.pc Service - Interment Caps.pc Service - Interment.pc Service Caps.pc Service.pc
File pame: Basic - Picture (I	spl <u>S</u> ave
Save as type: Data Setup	Cancel

If you simply hit save, it would overwrite your existing file and we don't want that. So first choose a new file name like Big Picture At Top and type it in the File name box. It would be a good practice to select names that are distinct from the names we use. Good choices might be Frank's Big Picture At Top or CookFH Big Picture At Top.

Prayer Card Setup	?×
Save in: 🔄 Acs	• • Ø 🗗 🖬
Data EmptyData Basic - Picture (bottom).pc Basic - Picture (top).pc Basic Caps.pc Basic.pc	Interment Caps.pc Interment.pc Service - Interment Caps.pc Service - Interment.pc Service Caps.pc Service.pc
File name: Big Picture Al	Top Save
Save as type: Data Setup	Cancel

Now when you click on Save and return to Advanced you will see that the Selected Data Set has changed to your new name.

Prayer Card Advanced Setup			
Selected Data: Big Picture At Top.pc Selected Fonts: Roman Small (Saramond).font	🖓 Auto Size	Space: 1	Top: 🔍 🌻

Then when you click on OK to close the Advanced Screen you will see that your new Data Set has been added to the Select Data List and is available to be selected in the future without having to go into Advanced at all.

Prayer Cards	Memorial Fol	dets Acknow	dedgement	Cards Register Book		
T Show Align	ment Borders	X Offset	Y Offset	Select Fonts	Select Data	
Both Sides Te	a 01 j	•	0	Roman Small (Garamond 🕷	Big Picture At Top.pc	<u>×</u>

A similar procedure would allow you to make a new font set. In advanced, click one of the ellipses to bring up a Font selector dialog to change the font for the field you selected.
ont <u>//_</u>				?>
Eont:		Font style:	<u>S</u> ize:	
Garamond		Bold	8	OK
T' Garamond	۸	Normal 🔺	8	Cancel
Tr Gill Sans		Regular	10	
Tr Gill Sans Condensed		Bold	11	
T Gill Sans Ultra Bold		Bold-Italic Bold Italic	12	
Tr Impact	-		16 🗉	
Effects		Sample		
☐ Strikeout		A-DLV-7	-	
Underline		A05+132	æ	
Color:				
Black.	1	Script:		
-		Western	•	
More Colors				

All of the fonts installed on your computer will appear in the list. You may also specify a Color other than Black and you can even click on More Colors to bring up a Custom Color Dialog to exactly match the color of a particular ink.

A similar procedure allows you to create your own layout sets. The layout sets store whether there will be a background or foreground picture. These pictures are distinct from the basic one that appears in the text. A background picture will be behind the text. A foreground picture will be in front of the background. Neither of these pictures appear with the text in the preview.

Do not use a Data Set that includes a picture when you choose a Layout Set with a Background. If you want to have a picture of the deceased appear over a background, choose a Data Set with just text and choose a Layout Set with both a background and a foreground picture. Adjust the Text Margins and the Foreground Picture position so that the text and the picture do not overlap. Checking Show Alignment Borders will draw boxes to aid in making these measurements.

The Register Books Tab contains two Advanced Buttons. The Advanced Button on the right is for adjusting what appears on a particular page. It operates just like the Advanced Buttons on the other tabs. The Advanced Button on the left is for adjusting what pages appear within a given book layout.

Pages Available				Page: Includ	ed	
Beams - B1 Ap Beams - B2 Ap Beams - C1 Ap Be	*	>>> \$ \$ Benove	In Mer Fanily Servic Semo Final F	noy-Dt-L1 Record-L1 es-L1 n-Notes-L1 n-L1 t-L1 lesting Place-L	1	

To add a page to the Book, highlight it on the left and click on the >> key to move it to the right. To remove a page from the Book, highlight it on the right and click on <u>Remove</u>. The up and down arrow keys allow you to reorder the pages.

If you use a particular customized Register Book layout, you will want to use the SaveData feature to save your Book and Pages under a unique name so that they will not be overwritten when you update

the program. This is a three step process. First, use the SaveData under Page Advanced to save each page to a new name such as "In Memory Of - MyFuneralHome." Second, use the SaveData under Book Advanced to create a new Book name such as "MyRegisterBook." Finally, use the controls in Book Advanced to remove the standard pages from the list of included pages in MyRegisterBook and to replace them with the MyFuneralHome pages.

7.14 Resizing Controls

After the program has created your card, you may use the resizing controls to adjust the spacing. The values which initially appear in these fields reflect the spacing choices made in Advanced.



Be aware that the initial layout created by the program is likely to fill the available space. This means that if you wish to use the controls to increase font sizes, you will need to reduce the section spread and vice versa. The Auto-Spread and Auto-Center buttons recalculate and reset the numbers in the controls for the top spacing and the section spread. You might use one of these buttons after changing the font or picture size.

Some cards have two pictures. The picture control normally adjusts the top picture. However, if you click on the bottom picture, the picture size control will switch and adjust the bottom one.

7.15 Printer Adjustments

When you click on Print the first time, the Printer Window appears with your default printer selected and Copies set to 1.



If necessary you may change the printer, tray, or paper size. Otherwise, simply click on OK to print your first sheet of cards. If you have not yet purchased the program, a message may appear warning you that the chosen funeral home location is unregistered. Do not be concerned about this message. It simply means that Sample will be printed on your output until we issue you a registration number on purchase. Click on OK in this warning.

After the first printing, the program will remember the printer you used previously rather than the Windows Default Printer. The program remembers separately the printer you last used for Prayer Cards, Memorial Folders, etc.

The Paper Feed setting moves the print on the page from side to side. The Vertical Adjustments moves the print on the page from top to bottom. If you are using a full letter sized form, it should not be necessary to change these settings. You will only change these settings when your paper is less than a full 8.5" wide or 11" tall.

Some printers feed narrow paper by leaving the left edge stationary and having a single slider on the right that moves in to hold the paper in place. Other printers have two sliders to feed the paper in the center. Still others keep the right edge stationary. Choose Left, Center, or Right depending upon your printer. Manual enables the Offset spin edit in the unlikely event you need to enter a more precise adjustment.

Some printers print on short paper as if missing paper is at the Leading edge of the sheet while others act as if the missing paper is at the Trailing edge. Vertical Adjustment compensates for this difference by moving the print from top to bottom. Again, Manual enables the Offset spin edit in the unlikely event you need to enter a more precise adjustment.

Note that when we say top to bottom or side to side, we mean with respect to the direction the paper is moving through the printer and not as you look at the finished product. Prayer Cards print landscape (sideways in the printer) which means that while the Vertical Adjustment is in the direction of the paper travel, it will move the print side to side as you look at the finished cards. Memorial Folders print portrait and there Vertical Adjustment moves top to bottom as you look at the finished cards. We have found a number of printers that require the Vertical Adjustment to be set on Trailing for Prayer Cards and Leading for Memorial Folders. While this sounds complicated, once you have these settings the way you want them, the program will remember them for the next time.

7.16 Verse Book

If you wish to enter your own custom verse, click on Verse Book.

Note that the name of the verse you are editing is <Empty Verse>. You don't want to put a verse into our Empty Verse so be sure to click on New to put in your own verse. The name field is what will show in your verse list not what appears on the card itself. You see that the Verse Book contains two word processing screens. The top one is for entering a title to appear above the verse while the bottom one is for the verse itself. You'll probably want to center the title; you might or might not want to put a carriage return after the title depending upon how much space looks best between the title and your verse. The verse itself might be centered or left justified or even right justified. You can also select a portion of the verse, right click on it, and get to a menu to adjust the margins and spacing for just that portion.

It is not necessary to adjust the fonts within the verse book. The fonts selected here are only used within the verse book. When your cards are actually constructed, the fonts will be replaced with those specified in your font set. If your verse requires a particular font that did not come from ACS, such as a foreign language font, you'll need to use Advanced to create font sets with that font.

You can also Delete verses from your book, Edit them, Copy them from one section to another, or Import them from other files on your computer. Be sure to Save your new verses before you close the Book.

Choosing Master List allows you to add ACS Verses back to your list after they have been deleted. This option may also be used to add new ACS Verses.

7.16.1 Master List

Selecting Master List from the Verse Book leads you to this Window.



The Verse Book was created when you first installed the program. Since that time, you may have added your own custom verses or removed or modified some of the verses that were originally installed. You may have also installed updated versions of the program with new Verse Book files; however, that installation did not over-write your modifications. Instead, the latest version of the Verse Book was copied to a different location on your hard disk: the EmptyData Folder. The Master List displays the Verses from the EmptyData Folder on the left, and the Verses from the Data Folder on the right. Controls in the center allow you move Verses from the left to the right thereby making them available for use.

You can not have two verses with the same name so before you can add a Verse you may need to remove one. Controls in the center allow you to remove one Verse or All Verses. First use the radio buttons at the top of the center selection to choose to display Verses for Prayer Cards, Memorial Folders, or Acknowledgment Cards.



To remove all the installed verses to start over, click on Remove <u>All</u>. To remove a single verse from the list of installed verses, first click on the desired verse in the right hand list to highlight it and then click on Remove.



If you chose to remove all of the Verses from the right, you can replace them all from the left by clicking on the double arrow symbol (>>). To add a single verse, first click on it in the left hand list so that it is highlighted, and then click on the single arrow symbol (>).

You can use the Master List to accomplish several purposes. You might want to remove a custom verse you entered for a particular family. You might want to remove Spanish Verses if you do not serve that community. You might want to add a Verse that we have added after your original installation. You might want to remove the installed version of a Verse and reinstall our latest version of the same Verse. You might even want to reinstall the <Empty Verse> if you turned it into a custom verse before you learned how to add a new verse for that purpose.

Clicking on Close with return you to the Verse Book.

7.17 Letters

Letters may be printed from many places in the program. A Letters Button appears in the Address Book so that you can send a letter to anyone you have dealt with. Letters may also be sent to the Payors in a Contract. Pressing any Letters Button leads to:

<u>O</u> pen	Save	Print	Envelope	Date Format		Director Name Funeral Home
Qooe	New	Hake		Junuar 97 2020	4	Include Address
ļ.						

Click on <u>Open to bring up the list of stored Letters</u>.

)pen	Date		न का	ral.		? ×
Look in: 🖂	Data				jei,	
sampie.ir scitr1.ir						
scilt/2.ltr						
scilt/4.ltr						
File name:					0pen	

We suggest you start by looking at sample.ltr although you will eventually want to look at the other letters which are designed for use in billing, too. When you open sample.ltr, you will return to the previous window.

Open	Save	Pint	Envelope	Date Format	Director Name			
Qose	New	∐ake		Tuuwu a' 1995	V Include Address			
<date></date>								
<address> Ladies and Gentlemen:</address>								
Replace thi Gentlement program wi address of Funeral Ho right. Right fonts and m Save and g Sincerely,	s paragrap and "Sino il replace « the person me Name t clicking or targins. If ive your left	h with the cerely," if y Date> wi you are w and Addro n this lette you want t tter a new	text of you you prefer- ith today's writing, and ess depend r will prod to use the l name befo	a letter. You n other words. V date, <address <closing> with ing upon what ace a menu that etter more that re you click or</closing></address 	nay edit "Ladies and When you click on Make, the s> with the name and h the Director's Name and/or you have checked at the top t will allow you to change o once, remember to click on h Make.			

As you can see, sample.ltr contains a basic letter format with instructions in the place of the body. Erase the body of the letter and replace it with your desired text. You may also change the formatting by clicking on the letter with your right hand mouse button to bring up a menu.

<u>E</u> dit
Cu <u>t</u> Copy <u>P</u> aste
<u>F</u> ont <u>B</u> ullet Style P <u>a</u> ragraph <u>T</u> abs
Fin <u>d</u> <u>R</u> eplace
Insert <u>O</u> bject

Chosing \underline{E} dit from this menu will bring up an alternate editing screen with a toolbar. Choosing \underline{F} ont will let you change the font. Bullet Style will format a list of items. Paragraph will adjust margins and

indentations. Tabs sets tabs.

As you see, sample.ltr includes structural items in brackets like <Date>. These are Tags. When you click on <u>Make these tags will be replaced with data</u>. <Date> becomes today's date. <Address> becomes the name and address of the person to whom the letter is being sent. Closing becomes the name of the person signing the letter. You may change the font to be used for the data by changing the font on the Tag. You may also move the tag. For example, if you want the date to be centered or right justified, you would highlight the tag, right click to bring up the menu, and then choose Paragraph. Use the drop down list and the check boxes at the upper right of the screen to format the <Date> and <Closing>, respectively.

<u>Q</u> pe	n	Save	Dint	Envelope	Date Format		Director Name
Çlos	•	New	Make		Juwuw (1, 2000)	직	Include Address

When the letter is to your satisfaction click on <u>Save</u>. Always save before using <u>Make</u> so that your Tags and not the instance data are saved.

Save As	100	1996 (C	S. Daimig			H.		ð Le	? ×
Save jn: 🕞	Data	_		٣	Ē	0	۵		H
sample.ltr									
scitr1.kr									
scitu2.tu									
sciltr4.kr									
E									
File name:	sample			_	_			Save	
Save as type:	Letters		_	_	_	•		Cance	я

If you were to just click save at this point, you would overwrite the sample letter and lose the instructions. Also, when you next updated your program, your letter would be overwritten with our sample letter. So, change the name to something appropriate before saving.

<u>New clears the screen so that you may type a fresh letter</u>. <u>Close does not close the current letter</u>; it closes the entire letter writing process taking you back to the prior screen.

Print brings up the Windows printer dialog.

Name:	HP DeskJet 6600	Properties
Status: Type: Where: Comment	Default printer; Ready HP DeskJet 660C LPT1:	
Print range	form to	Copies Number of gopies: 1 😤

Envelope leads to a dialog

Envelopes & Labels	
Include Return Address	Include Address
Upper 2	Upper 0.2
Leit j3 🖃	Leit ju 🖃
Print <u>E</u> nvelope	👖 🖸 Ose

where you may position the addresses before printing.

8 Utilities

8.1 Overview

When you select Utilities from the Main Menu, you open the Utilities Menu.

🔄 Utilities		
[Backup/ <u>R</u> estore]
Persons	Places	Professionals
Debugging	⊻erse Book	BDE Config
Data Dir	Release <u>N</u> otes	DOS Convert
<u>M</u> S-DOS	Data <u>U</u> tils	Permissions

Backup/Restore is a basic option to save your data. Persons, Places, and Professionals all allow you to do maintenance on your Address Book without having to go into a case. Debugging, BDE Config, MS-DOS, Data Utils, and DOS Convert would normally only be used with the aid of a support technician. Permissions allows you to create a security system to control access to the program.

8.2 Backup/Restore

This is a basic backup and restore program which simply copies your data to or from another drive. It is useful if you have a removal drive such as a Zip or Zap drive or if you have a Local Area Network. If you have a tape backup system, you would use the software that came with the tape instead of or in addition to this utility.



Click on the arrow to the right of the drive symbol to bring up a list of available drives. The click on Backup to copy your data to that drive or on Restore to copy data on that drive back over your program. You should not choose Restore unless there is something wrong with your working data as it will overwrite your data with the copy from the other drive.

8.3 Address Book

The Address Book Utility allows you to work on your lists of Names and Places without calling up a funeral. Specify whether you want to work on your list of People, Professionals, and Places and then you may Add, Delete, or Edit the names on that list. You may also print Letters from the Address Book.

8.4 Debugging

This option is provided for our support technicians. It allows them to turn on some testing features to help them diagnose problems.

8.5 BDE Config

The BDE Config Utility allows you to alter the settings of the Borland Database Engine. You would not normally alter these settings unless instructed to do so by the ACS Support Department.

BDE Configuration Config File No	ame: C:\Phogram Files\Comm User Name	ton Files\Borland\BDE\IDAPI32.CFG # FMC	<u>-0×</u>
Data Location:	C:VACS\Data		
Parameter	Value	1	-
VERSION	3.0	1	-
LOCAL SHARE	FALSE	1	
MINBUFSIZE	128		
MAXBUFSIZE	2048		
LANGDRIVER	asci		
MAXFILEHANDLES	75		
SYSFLAGS	0		×
	Seve Cano	el <u>B</u> efresh	

Network users will have occassion, however, to change the Data Location. When you install the program, the Data Location will be set to a Data Folder underneath the Folder in which you chose to install the program. If you are on a large or Wide Area Network, you may choose to actually install the program on every workstation as well as on the server. In that case, you would change the Data Location in this window from every workstation so that it points to the Data on the server. Our preferred method of network installation, however, is to install the program onto the server again and again from each workstation. That will allow the installation program to create icons and configure the BDE properly on each workstation so that you do not need to change anything here.

8.6 MS-DOS

This utility allows you to leave the program and "shell out" to an MS-DOS prompt. It is normally only used by support technicians and advanced users.

8.7 Data Utils

Several data utilities are provided. It is good practice to backup before performing any data utility.



Upgrade is a routine operation performed after you have installed a new version of the program. It makes any changes that may be necessary in the data base structures because of changes in the program.

Pack Data removes the space taken by deleted records from your files. It is good practice to Pack periodically.

Reindex repairs the index files for your data.

Clear Prpro empties the files that stores images of your prayer cards, etc, and your picture file. It does not empty the underlying data so it is possible to remake the cards if you know what verse was used. If you print pictures on your cards, the image file can become big quickly and that can cause problems. This utility will first ask you if you want to clear out data files. Yes will clear the files that store the previews. A second question will ask if you also want to clear the picture file. Yes will erase all of the pictures from your old cases. You should click No on this second question if you are not experiencing trouble on the Picture Tab. If you aren't experiencing problems, it is probably sufficient to choose to Pack the Data rather than Clear these files.

The other utilities would normally only be used if directed to do so by an ACS support technician.

8.8 DOS Convert

115

This utility will convert data from earlier versions of Arranger. It is in final testing. If you would like a conversion program for some other funeral home software program, call us and we will investigate the feasibility and cost.

8.9 Permissions

For security reasons, the first two steps in setting up a system of permissions require a call to ACS Support. We will change your registration code to enable the security system feature and give you a password which will allow you to create the first users. Once security has been enabled, a Log On screen will appear whenever you start the program.

Association Computer Services, Inc.	. 🛛 🛛
User	
	•
Password	
A tax On L M Count L	2 Hale
✓ Log Un	▲ Heab

A drop down list will allow you to select the User from the names you have defined. You will not be able to enter the program until you have correctly entered the password for that User.

Users are created and their powers are defined by selecting Permissions from the Utilities Menu. The first time you attempt to access Permissions no users will have yet been defined so Support will give you a special password good for that day only which will allow entry.

Permissions		
	User 👻	Clay Al
Г	Password:	Check All
Ledger Pro Reports Form Setup Pn Pro Reports	Ar Pro Reports Interest Bookkeeping Export Sales Codes Mdse Costs	Print Pro Advanced Verse Book Security Std Services Utilities
✓ <u>S</u> ave	<u><u>I</u> Close X Canc</u>	el <u>? H</u> elp

You should first create a Master User with access to the entire program. Enter a name and password for this User, click on the Check <u>All</u> Button to give this User all the possible permissions, and click on <u>S</u> ave. The Master User can be given any name you wish. You could call it Administrator, but you do not have to do so. You may use your own name.

Blank passwords will not be saved. The program will not limit your choice of a password, but you should be aware that the most secure passwords are a combination of letters, numbers, and symbols. Using your birthday, your phone number, your child's name, your pet's name, your favorite football team, or any other password that people who know you are likely to guess, is not secure. A trick some people use to create a password that is both secure and easy to remember is to replace some of the letters in a word with numbers. For example, you might spell dog with a zero instead on an o. Of course, your actual password should be more complex.

Next enter a name and password for another user, click on the Clear All Button to uncheck the permissions, check on only the permissions you wish this user to have, and then click on <u>Save</u>. Do not check the Security box for any User other than the Master User. Any user who has Security checked can access the Permission screen and give themselves additional access.

The bold faced boxes with the module names, LedgerPro, AR Pro, etc., control access to the entire module. If a user does not have one of these boxes checked, he will not be able to access that module at all. For example, if you wanted a particular user not to be able to access AR Pro, you would not check that box. If you want the user to be able to access the module but to limit the things he can do within the module, you would check the bold faced box for that module but leave some or all of the boxes underneath the bold faced box unchecked. For example, you might choose to check the AR Pro box for a certain user but not check the Reports box underneath the AR Pro box which would allow the particular user to use the module but would block their access to AR Reports.

If a User attempts to access a part of the program to which he does not have access, the Log On screen will reappear. The Master User could then grant one time access by entering the Master User name and password. If you forget your Master password, ACS Support can give you special password good for that day only which will allow you to create a new password; however, for obvious reasons, we will only give these passwords to the owner of the firm.

9 Trouble Shooting

Table Unavailable Because of Previous Error

This error message indicates a problem with an index. Choose Utilities, Data Utilities, and Re-Index.

Blob Error or Corrupt File Message

These error messages are normally followed by a file name of containing either prpro or rb (If the file name is not prpro or rb and it ends in mdx, the corrupt file is an index file and you should Re-Index.). Choose Utilities, Data Utilities, and Clear Prpro. You will answer the first question yes but you can say no to the second question about deleting picture files. If that does not solve your problem, try the process again saying yes to the second question about picture files.

Clicking on Remake in PrintPRO Does Not Produce a Preview

The preview file is probably corrupt. Choose Utilities, Data Utilities, and Clear Prpro. You will answer the first question yes but you can say no to the second question about deleting picture files.

A Scanned Picture Does Not Appear on the Picture Tab

The picture file is probably corrupt. Choose Utilities, Data Utilities, and Clear Prpro. You may say no to the first question about deleting data files, but you will need to say yes to the second question about deleting picture files.

Field-Id missing

If you have recently installed an upgrade, this error may mean you failed to run a necessary upgrade utility. If not, it is probably a false error generated by a corrupt preview file and you should follow the instructions above for clearing Prpro.

Unable to Find Working Directory

If you are on a network, this is probably a legitimate error indicating that your network drive mapping

has been lost. Recreate the map to the server. If you are not on a network, this error can be caused if you have opened multiple copies of the program without realizing it. The easiest cure is to Shut Down your computer. As the computer shuts down, you may see multiple copies of the program attempt to close and you may need to choose End Now.

The Program Disappears when you Open a Case

You probably turned off your computer when the program was minimized and now the program thinks it should open minimized. Look above the Start Button and see if there is an Arranger Icon there. If so, click on the icon and locate the choice to maximize the program.

Unable to open Temp.acs

You are trying to open a second copy of the program and you are not registered for the multi-user version. If you are on a network, check to see if someone else is using the program. If you are not on a network, look above the Start Button to see if you have a copy open and minimized. Your screen saver might have minimized the program when you were away from your desk.

10 Registration

ACS software ships in a Demonstration Mode which allows you to try it before you choose to buy it. Registration is done with the help of the ACS Support Department after you have paid for your software. It is not necessary to use this Utility prior to purchase; however, some aspects of the program will be different until you do so. For example, "Sample" will be printed on Forms if either the Module or the Funeral Home is unregistered.